

CHCRUS

This is the accepted manuscript made available via CHORUS. The article has been published as:

Colloquium: Quantum and classical discrete time crystals

Michael P. Zaletel, Mikhail Lukin, Christopher Monroe, Chetan Nayak, Frank Wilczek, and

Norman Y. Yao Rev. Mod. Phys. **95**, 031001 — Published 7 July 2023 DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.95.031001

Colloquium: Quantum and Classical Discrete Time Crystals

Michael P. Zaletel

Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, California 94720 USA Materials Science Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California 94720 USA

Mikhail Lukin

Department of Physics, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138 USA

Christopher Monroe

Duke Quantum Center, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Department of Physics, Duke University, Durham NC 27701 USA

Chetan Nayak

Microsoft Quantum, Station Q, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA 93106 USA Department of Physics, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA 93106 USA

Frank Wilczek

Center for Theoretical Physics, MIT, Cambridge MA 02139 USA; T. D. Lee Institute and Wilczek Quantum Center, SJTU, Shanghai; Arizona State University, Tempe AZ USA; Stockholm University Stockholm, Sweden

Norman Y. Yao

Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, California 94720 USA

(Dated: February 13, 2023)

The spontaneous breaking of time translation symmetry has led to the discovery of a new phase of matter – the discrete time crystal. Discrete time crystals exhibit rigid subharmonic oscillations, which result from a combination of many-body interactions, collective synchronization, and ergodicity breaking. This Colloquium reviews recent theoretical and experimental advances in the study of quantum and classical discrete time crystals. We focus on the breaking of ergodicity as the key to discrete time crystals and the delaying of ergodicity as the source of numerous phenomena that share many of the properties of discrete time crystals, including the AC Josephson effect, coupled map lattices, and Faraday waves. Theoretically, there exists a diverse array of strategies to stabilize time crystalline order in both closed and open systems, ranging from localization and prethermalization to dissipation and error correction. Experimentally, many-body quantum simulators provide a natural platform for investigating signatures of time crystalline order; recent work utilizing trapped ions, solid-state spin systems, and superconducting qubits will be reviewed. Finally, this Colloquium concludes by describing outstanding challenges in the field and a vision for new directions on both the experimental and theoretical fronts.

CONTENTS

	Symmetry	2
II.	What defines a time-crystalline phase of matter?	4
	A. Illustrative examples	5
		_
111.	Floquet Hamiltonian systems	7
	A. Faraday waves B. Floquet Hamiltonians and emergent symmetries	7
	1 The rotating frame: constructing the Floquet	'
	Hamiltonian	8
	2. Time translation symmetry breaking as internal	
	symmetry breaking of the Floquet Hamiltonian	9
	3. The spectral perspective	9
	4. Application to many-body parametric resonance	10
	C. Ergodicity, destroyer of time-crystals	11
IV.	Closed, periodically-driven quantum systems	11
	A. Introduction to quantum Floquet phases	11
	B. Many-body localized discrete time crystal	13
	C. Experimental signatures of disordered time crystals	13
	1. Trapped ion spin chains	13
	2. Spins in condensed matter	14
	3. Superconducting transmon qubits	14
	1 Floquet prethermalization	15
	2. Prethermal discrete time crystal in a 1D trapped	10
	ion chain	16
	E. Periodically driven Bose-Einstein Condensates	17
V.	Open, periodically-driven systems and stochastic	
	dynamics	19
	A. "Activated" time-crystals	20
	B. Experimental realizations of activated time-crystals:	
	pendula, AC-driven charge density waves, and	
	fractional Shapiro steps	21
	C. Ergodicity in open systems	23
	D. Probabilistic centuar automata \mathbf{F} An absolutely stable open time crystal: the π Teem	24
	model	25
	F. Open Hamiltonian and quantum dynamics	26
VT	Outlook and future directions	26
v 1.	A New venues for time crystals	26
	1. Quantum many-body scars	26
	2. Stark time crystals	27
	B. Prethermalization beyond Floquet quantum systems	27
	1. Classical prethermal discrete time crystals	27
	2. Higher- M discrete time crystals	27
	3. Prethermal time quasi-crystals	28
	C. Applications: from metrology to quantum information	00
	Denchmarking	28
	D. Concluding Remarks	29
	References	30

I. Introduction: Spontaneous Breaking of Time Translation

I. INTRODUCTION: SPONTANEOUS BREAKING OF TIME TRANSLATION SYMMETRY

Spontaneous symmetry breaking is a remarkable collective phenomenon: an assembly of constituents, each interacting with only its nearby neighbors, manages to align its behavior across large spatial and temporal separations. The concept has wide-ranging applications, from crystalline and magnetic ordering to superfluidity, superconductivity, and the generation of particle masses. Recently there has been a burst of activity surround-

perconductivity, and the generation of particle masses. Recently there has been a burst of activity surrounding the spontaneous breaking of symmetries that involve time translation (Else *et al.*, 2016; Khemani *et al.*, 2016; Sacha, 2015; Shapere and Wilczek, 2012b; Wilczek, 2012; Yao *et al.*, 2017). These explorations have exposed new phenomena and new opportunities, but also important subtleties. In this Colloquium, we will discuss both the resulting sharpening of theoretical concepts and the discovery of previously unsuspected new phases of matter. We will also discuss open questions and potential applications.

Landau-Ginzburg theory is the starting point for many theoretical treatments of spontaneous symmetry breaking. In a simple but representative example of this framework, one considers the theory of a complex scalar field $\phi(x,t)$ whose equations are invariant under a phase transformation $\phi \to e^{i\lambda}\phi$. Physically, ϕ might represent the field associated with the creation and annihilation of bosonic particles (e.g., ⁴He atoms), *s*-wave spin singlet Cooper pairs, or the distribution of a planar spin density. Within the Landau-Ginzburg paradigm, a key role is played by the energy (or more generally the free energy) of a field configuration. The simplest energy functional consistent with symmetries is given by:

$$V(\phi) = b_4 |\nabla \phi|^4 + b_2 |\nabla \phi|^2 + a_2 |\phi|^2 + a_4 |\phi|^4 = H = -L,$$
(1)

where $\{a_2, a_4, b_2, b_4\}$ are real-valued parameters while H, L denote the Hamiltonian and Lagrangian densities, respectively. Taking $a_4, b_4 > 0$ insures stability against rapid spatial variations and large fields.

If $a_2 < 0$, states with $\langle \phi \rangle \neq 0$ are energetically favorable, spontaneously breaking the phase rotation symmetry. If $b_2 < 0$, states with $\langle \nabla \phi \rangle \neq 0$ are favorable, spontaneously breaking the spatial translation symmetry and indicating the emergence of spatial patterns. By reducing the symmetry, the system gains a non-zero energy per unit volume. In the limit of infinite volume, the symmetry of all physically realizable states is less than the symmetry of the original equations. This is the mechanism of spontaneous symmetry breaking in equilibrium.

Physicists are accustomed, in many contexts, to treating time and space on an equal footing. Thus, one could imagine generalizing Eq. (1) to include time derivatives. In a Lagrangian framework, it is natural to consider adding the leading order kinetic terms,

$$L_{\rm kin.} = c_4 |\partial_t \phi|^4 + c_2 |\partial_t \phi|^2, \qquad (2)$$

which corresponds to the energy density $H_{\text{kin.}} = 3c_4 |\partial_t \phi|^4 + c_2 |\partial_t \phi|^2$. For $c_2 < 0, c_4 > 0$, it is energetically favorable to have $\langle \partial_t \phi \rangle \neq 0$, implying the spontaneous breaking of time translation symmetry.

This line of reasoning suggests that spontaneous timetranslation symmetry-breaking $(S\tau B)$ is straightforward to achieve. But subtleties abound (Shapere and Wilczek, 2012b; Wilczek, 2012). Quantum mechanics requires Hamiltonians, and for non-singular Hamiltonians, Hamilton's equations, $\partial_t \phi = \partial_p H, \partial_t p = -\partial_\phi H$, imply that a system is stationary at any energy minima. Thus a ground state cannot exhibit periodic oscillations. The behavior of Eq. (2) is able to evade this this conclusion because $\partial_t \phi$ is not a single-valued function of the canonical momentum [i.e., $p(\partial_t \phi) = \frac{\delta L_{\text{kin.}}}{\delta \partial_t \phi}$ does not have a unique inverse $\partial_t \phi(p)$, and consequently, neither is the Hamiltonian.(Shapere and Wilczek, 2012b) This is not necessarily an insurmountable problem. Indeed for such singular Hamiltonians it is often possible to construct consistent (in particular, unitary) quantum theories that realize the corresponding classical dynamics in the limit of large quantum numbers (Chi and He, 2014; Choudhury and Guha, 2019; Shapere and Wilczek, 2012a,b; Zhao et al., 2013). Moreover, singular Hamiltonians that support time-dependent minima can arise as limiting cases of non-singular Hamiltonians as appropriate parameters are taken large. A limiting theory can be valuable, because it is often more tractable than the full theory, while being accurate within a large range of parameter space (Alekseev et al., 2020; Dai et al., 2020, 2019; Shapere and Wilczek, 2019). However, away from this limit several authors (Bruno, 2013; Nozières, 2013; Watanabe and Oshikawa, 2015) have argued that persistent oscillations cannot arise in a quantum system that is in equilibrium with respect to a local Hamiltonian.

These subtleties suggest that the application of the Landau paradigm to $S\tau B$ may not be as easy as Eq. (2) would lead us to believe. An additional necessary ingredient for $S\tau B$ is a robust mechanism for *ergodicity breaking* which enables the dynamics of the system to "remember" the initial condition (e.g. the complex phase of ϕ) out to infinite times. Spontaneous symmetry breaking is a special case of ergodicity breaking. Focusing on this aspect of spontaneous symmetry breaking leads to the following formulations of $S\tau B$: it is a form of ergodicity breaking in which a generic ensemble of initial conditions exhibits persistent oscillations with a temporal phase shift that remembers the initial condition (cf. (3)).

In recent years, a non-equilibrium route to $S\tau B$ has been discovered in the context of Hamiltonians periodically driven at frequency ω_D . Such "Floquet" systems (Floquet, 1883) feature a reduced, discrete timetranslation symmetry $H(t + 2\pi/\omega_D) = H(t)$, where $T_0 = 2\pi/\omega_D$ is the driving period. When a simple harmonic oscillator is driven at frequency ω_D , it responds at frequency ω_D , regardless of its natural frequency. This is even true of many non-linear systems that are far more complex: when driven at frequency ω_D , their observable properties respond at integer harmonics of ω_D , regardless of their detailed structure. In this case, the observable behavior evolves with the same discrete time-translation symmetry as the underlying equations of motion. In contrast, a system is said to exhibit a *subharmonic* response if there are properties which oscillate at frequency ω_D/m for some integer m > 1. Such a subharmonic response spontaneously breaks the discrete time-translation symmetry down to the smaller subgroup $t \rightarrow t + 2\pi n/\omega_D$ with $n \in m\mathbb{Z}$. If this S τ B is stable to perturbations, the system is a "discrete time crystal" (Else *et al.*, 2020b; Guo and Liang, 2020; Khemani *et al.*, 2019; Sacha, 2020; Sacha and Zakrzewski, 2017).

Owing to the periodic drive, it is not obvious how to stabilize such behavior. Within the Landau paradigm, spontaneous symmetry-breaking phases retain their order in the face of fluctuations (both thermal and quantum) by virtue of the energy penalty associated with misaligned regions. But this is not possible for a discrete time crystal, since energy is not conserved in a driven system. The oscillations in distant parts of the system must remain in lockstep even though the energy penalty for failing to do so can easily be over-ridden by the energy supplied by the drive.

The aim of this Colloquium is to give a unifying perspective on various non-equilibrium mechanisms for discrete $S\tau B$ in closed (Fig. 1) and open (Fig. 2) systems. By centering our discussion in the language of dynamical systems, we hope to highlight the connections — and contrasts — between the rich literature on subharmonic responses in dynamical systems and more recent developments in the context of closed quantum systems. Until recently, many-body systems exhibiting $S\tau B$, such as period doubling in coupled map lattices, were only found in open systems that relied fundamentally on dissipation. They could be viewed as a type of engine: the energy supplied by the frequency- ω_D drive is converted to frequency ω_D/m motion while releasing heat to a cold bath. With the discovery of many-body localized (MBL) discrete time crystals, a qualitatively different form of $S\tau B$ was discovered: one that does not generate any entropy at all.

In an MBL time crystal, the time scale of $S\tau B$ oscillations diverges exponentially as the system size alone is increased. However, for practical purposes it is also of interest to know if there are other physical parameters whose limiting behavior can drive such an exponential increase, for example, the drive frequency $\omega_D \to \infty$; the temperature $T \to 0$; or the particle density $n \to \infty$. This will lead us to the notion of prethermal, activated, and driven-BEC time crystals, respectively. A key tool which is common to both of these "exponentially good" time-crystals and to their MBL counterpart is the emergence of an effective time-independent Floquet Hamilto*nian*, $H_{\rm eff}$, which governs the dynamics out to exponentially long time scales. Crucially, $H_{\rm eff}$ can exhibit emergent symmetries that are protected by the underlying time-translation symmetry of the drive. In a pleasing re-



FIG. 1 Schematic depicting strategies for stabilizing time crystalline order in periodically-driven, closed systems evolving via deterministic dynamics. In few-body classical systems, such as a parametrically driven non-linear oscillator, stable subharmonic responses are ubiquitous. This stability can be understood as a time-dependent extension of the Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser (KAM) theorem (Givental *et al.*, 2009; Kolmogorov, 1954; Möser, 1962), which proves that quasiperiodic orbits of dynamical systems remain robust to small perturbations (Sec. III.B.4). There is no quantum analog to this classical few-body strategy. For many-body systems, both classical and quantum dynamics can exhibit Floquet prethermalization in the limit of large driving frequencies (Sec. IV.D). During an intermediate prethermal window of time (i.e. before Floquet heating occurs), the system can exhibit discrete time crystalline order. The lifetime of this order scales exponentially with the frequency of the drive, $\tau \sim e^{\omega_D/J}$. In strongly disordered, quantum many-body systems, a phenomenon known as many-body localization can occur. This prevents Floquet heating (see Sec. III.C) and also provides a mechanism for the many-body system to avoid becoming ergodic. By breaking ergodicity, time crystalline order can persist to infinite times in the thermodynamic limit. Since many-body localization relies upon the discreteness of quantum mechanical levels, there is no classical analog to this strategy. Left panel inset figure adapted from (Heltberg *et al.*, 2016), middle panel inset figure adapted from (Kyprianidis *et al.*, 2021), right panel inset figure adapted from (Yao *et al.*, 2017).

turn to form, S τ B can then be understood in terms of the breaking of these emergent symmetries and as an application of the Landau paradigm not to H(t), but rather to H_{eff} .

In the setting of Floquet dynamics, the environment couples to the system only via a coherent drive. But in any physical experiment, the environment itself is a many-body system, and thus, coupling to it inevitably comes along with dissipation and noise. Indeed, all experiments on discrete time crystals to date show their fingerprints. The possibility of perfect $S\tau B$ in the presence of a drive, dissipation, and noise remains an open question.

The outlines of a possible answer to this question are provided by deep results from theoretical computer science and non-equilibrium statistical physics. As emphasized, $S\tau B$ is fundamentally a form of ergodicity breaking, and there is a history of rigorous results from these communities which show that ergodicity breaking can be generically stable to noise (Gács, 2001; Toom, 1980). In that context, the motivation was to understand whether "reliable systems can emerge from unreliable components" (Von Neumann, 1952). The answer to this question is inextricably linked to the physical possibility of the most radical form of ergodicity breaking of all: classical and quantum error correction. From this perspective, if purely dissipative time crystals are a form of engine, and MBL time crystals a type of idealized perpetual motion, then $S\tau B$ in open systems is an embryonic example of an error-corrected computer program: repeatedly applying the same "NOT" operation to all registers, the computer settles into the period-2 output ...0101010101....

II. WHAT DEFINES A TIME-CRYSTALLINE PHASE OF MATTER?

Discrete $S\tau B$ leads to regular and long-lived oscillations with a period which is a multiple of the drive's. Oscillations in general, however, are ubiquitous throughout nature, so in this section we will formalize when such behavior signals the emergence of a genuine phase of matter. Our starting point is any dynamical system (Birkhoff, 1927; Katok and Hasselblatt, 1997; Strogatz, 2018) whose state x evolves under a discrete-time update rule $\Phi: x \to \Phi(x)$. The state of the system at time-step t is thus $x(t) = \Phi^{(t)}(x(0))$, where the superscript denotes iteration. The time-independence of Φ implies there is a discrete time-translation symmetry. While the notation highlights a discrete time-step, Φ may arise from viewing a continuous-time system "stroboscopically." In the context of classical and quantum dynamics defined by time-periodic Hamiltonian H(t+T) = H(t), x is the classical or quantum state, and Φ corresponds to integration of Hamilton's equations or the Schrödinger equation over one period of the drive.

The dynamics exhibit m-fold time-translation symmetry breaking if there exists a local observable O which exhibits periodic oscillations out to infinite times for a measurable volume of initial conditions x:

$$\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{n=1}^{\tau} O(\Phi^{(mn)}(x)) \neq \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{n=1}^{\tau} O(\Phi^{(mn+p)}(x))$$
(3)

where 0 corresponds to the*m*-phases of the orbit, with equality restored for p = m. A time-crystal thus "remembers" which of m initial conditions it is in. This implies that $S\tau B$ is a particular form of *ergodicity break*ing (Cornfeld et al., 2012; Sinai, 1959; Walters, 2000): the time-averaged behavior of the *m*-fold iterated map $\Phi^{(m)}$ depends on the initial condition. This behavior has been called "asymptotic periodicity" in the literature on classical many-body dynamical systems (Lasota et al., 1984; Lasota and Mackey, 2013; Losson and Mackey, 1996). While Eq.(3) implies infinitely long-lived oscillations, we may also consider a relaxed condition in which the time scale τ remains finite but diverges exponentially with a control parameter such as the drive frequency or temperature. This will be the case for "prethermal" (Sec. IV.D) and "activated" (Sec. V.A) time-crystals, respectively.

We emphasize that $S\tau B$ does not require that each state x itself undergoes perfectly periodic motion, only that there is an observable O which oscillates on average. For example, in the context of a single variable x, the observable $O(x) = \operatorname{sign}(x)$ might exhibit regular oscillations even while the motion of x itself is quite chaotic. This accounts for the fact that we rarely have direct access to the microstate of the system, only coarse-grained measurements. This limitation also motivates the requirement that oscillations be observable for a finite volume of initial conditions, over which we rarely have exact control. Taken together, an equivalent formulation of Eq.(3) takes a statistical point of view by considering the evolution of distributions over microstates $\rho(x)$; we return to this formulation in our discussion of stochastic systems in Sec. V.

Even a single degree of freedom can trivially exhibit $S\tau B$: take for example the map $\Phi(x) = -x$. The problem gains its richness when we demand *stability*: $S\tau B$ is a property of a dynamical *phase* of matter if it is robust to any small locality-preserving perturbation of either the initial condition x or the dynamics Φ . Under the perturbation $\Phi(x) \to -x(1-\epsilon)$, for example, oscillations are damped at times beyond $\tau \sim \epsilon^{-1}$, and $S\tau B$ is destroyed.

When discussing stability, we need to be clear which class of perturbations we demand stability against. Correspondingly this defines different possible *classes* of $S\tau B$ phases — Hamiltonian, unitary, Langevin, quantum Lindladian, etc. — which would exhibit $S\tau B$ robust to arbitrary small perturbations within that dynamical class. Depending on how broadly or narrowly we define stability, we will have more or fewer examples, but weaker or stronger implications.

A. Illustrative examples

The requirements surrounding Eq. (3) contain several subtleties, so it will prove helpful to walk through several illustrative examples of "is X a time-crystal" with these in mind. We first focus on examples which do exhibit oscillations (and are interesting in their own right), but which do not satisfy the strict requirements of Eq.(3).

Consider first the dynamics of an undriven oscillator $H = \frac{p^2}{2m} + \frac{\omega_0^2}{2m}q^2 + \frac{\epsilon}{4}q^4$. Obviously any initial condition x = (q, p) will oscillate forever - do such oscillations constitute a discrete time-crystal? Since H is time-independent, for the purposes of testing Eq. (3) we may choose to stroboscopically observe the dynamics at whichever period T we suspect harbors the oscillations (say $T = 2\pi/\omega_0$). However, stability requires us to account for the non-linearity ϵ , which causes the oscillation frequency to depend on the amplitude of the initial condition. As a result, there is no fixed period T for which Eq. (3) is satisfied for a *finite volume* of initial conditions: a generic ensemble of states will instead dephase, with no $S\tau B$ after some characteristic time τ .

The time scale τ for such dephasing may be large, in which case the dynamics may *appear* to exhibit $S\tau B$ in practice even while they do not satisfy Eq. (3) in principle. Consider for example the AC-Josephson effect,

$$H = -E_J \cos\phi + 2eVn + \frac{n^2}{2C} \tag{4}$$

Here ϕ is the superconducting phase difference across a Josephson junction, which is conjugate to the Cooper pair number n; E_J is the Josephson energy for the tunneling of a pair across the junction, C is the junction capacitance, and V is the voltage difference across the junction. For a large junction the capacitance approaches $C = \infty$,

6



FIG. 2 Schematic depicting strategies for stabilizing time crystalline order in periodically-driven, open systems evolving via stochastic dynamics. Dissipative non-linear dynamical systems have long been known to exhibit stable, many-body time translation symmetry breaking. Indeed, coupled map lattices can satisfy all of the stated requirements for being a discrete time crystal. The key ingredient for the stability of $S\tau B$ in this setting is a generalized version of dissipation—effectively, one can think of the microscopic dynamics in such systems as being coupled to a zero temperature bath (alternatively, one can say that the microscopic dynamics are not information- or measure-preserving). This ensures that a finite volume of initial conditions contracts towards, for example, a period-doubled fixed point (Sec. II.A). The stability of time crystalline order in many-body systems coupled to a finite temperature bath are significantly more subtle. For example, in classical Langevin dynamics or quantum Linbladian dynamics, at any T > 0, dissipation always comes with noise. In such systems (e.g. finite temperature, parametrically-driven, coupled non-linear pendula), at low temperatures, time crystalline order can survive for an "activated" time-scale $\sim e^{\Delta/k_B T}$ (Sec. V.A). Somewhat remarkably, by considering more generic stochastic dynamics (i.e. probabilistic cellular automata), it is possible to realize finite-temperature, time crystalline order with an infinite lifetime (Sec. V.E). Left panel inset figure adapted from (Kaneko, 1984), middle panel inset figure adapted from (Hundley and Zettl, 1989), right panel inset figure adapted from (Vasmer, 2020).

and the equations of motion then give $\phi(t) = \phi_0 + 2eVt$, implying the supercurrent $I_s = \dot{n} = E_J \sin(\phi)$ oscillates indefinitely in response to a DC voltage. However, for the generic case in which C is finite, a shift of variables from $n \to n - 2eVC$ brings H to the form of a pendulum whose behavior is similar to the non-linear oscillator discussed above. The time scale for the resulting dephasing $\tau = \sqrt{C/E_J}$ may be large - though it is worth pointing out that this dependence is not an exponential. In experiments, Josephson junctions are generally resistively shunted, and related interesting phenomena arise in this open context as will be discussed in Sec. V.

Another interesting limit of Eq.(4) is $E_J = 0$, in which case H has an internal U(1) phase symmetry which guarantees that $\dot{\phi} = 2eV + n/C$ remains constant. In this case $T = 2\pi/\dot{\phi}$ This is an example of $S\tau B$ which "piggybacks" on the spontaneous symmetry breaking of an unrelated internal symmetry. Equivalent examples are superfluids at non-zero chemical potential or an XY mag-

net in a perpendicular field. Such systems have a U(1)order parameter that precesses in time for generic initial conditions. The precession is unobservable (for example $I_s = 0$ unless the U(1) symmetry, which makes all angles equivalent, is broken. But in the absence of U(1)symmetry, there is no barrier to energy dissipating from the macroscopic precession of the order parameter into the internal motion of its many-body constituents. At long times the system then relaxes to a state (e.g., vanishing particle number in the superfluid or spin aligned with the field in the magnet) wherein macroscopic motion ceases. To navigate this dichotomy, one must shield the system from explicit symmetry breaking apart from brief, intermittent measurement events, as in the experiment of Urbina *et al.*, 1982. In this case, $S\tau B$ is stable only to perturbations which preserve the internal symmetry. In contrast, we will find that a stronger form of $S\tau B$ is possible which depends only on the time-translation symmetry itself.

A many-body example which does satisfy all the requirements surrounding Eq. (3) is period doubling in deterministic dissipative systems. An iterated map $x \rightarrow$ f(x), such as the logistic map, (Strogatz, 2018) provides an idealized model of the unit-time evolution of such a system. Taking for example $f(x) = -x(1 + a - x^2)$, there is a basin of attraction of initial states that setthe into a limiting oscillation between $x = \pm \sqrt{a}$ when a > 0. This simple one-body example can be promoted to a many-body model (a "coupled map lattice") by considering an array of variables x_i which evolve under $\Phi: x_i \to f(x_i) + v(x_{i-1}, x_i, x_{i+1})$ with some generic local interaction v. The behavior of coupled map lattices is very rich, since they include cellular automata (Gutowitz, 1991) as a special case (Bunimovich and Sinai, 1988; Kaneko, 1984, 1992; Kaneko and Konishi, 1987; Kapral, 1985). Coupled map lattices can support collective subharmonic responses (Gielis and MacKay, 2000; Losson and Mackey, 1996; Losson et al., 1995) which are stable to smooth perturbations of f or v.

III. FLOQUET HAMILTONIAN SYSTEMS

As noted above, if we consider systems with dissipation but no noise, as for example a coupled map lattice, it is relatively straightforward to obtain stable, many-body $S\tau B$. This is the classical zero-temperature limit of the general open system problem that we discuss at length in Section V. These systems illustrate that the existence and stability of time crystals depends strongly on the class of dynamical system considered (open, closed; classical, quantum). The presence of dissipation leads to a fixed-point orbit about which the linearized dynamics have eigenvalues $|\lambda| < 1$, so that a finite volume of initial conditions contracts towards the fixed point. In contrast, for the canonical transformation which arises from integrating Hamilton's equations over one Floquet period, the eigenvalues always come in conjugate pairs $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = 1$ in order to ensure that the phase-space volume $dq \wedge dp$ is preserved in accord with Liouville's theorem. In the section, we discuss why stable $S\tau B$, i.e. an infinitelylong-lived time crystal, is not expected to occur in such a situation.

A. Faraday waves

To illustrate why Hamiltonian structure makes the possibility of $S\tau B$ considerably more challenging, it is helpful to consider the concrete example of Faraday-wave instabilities in shaken surface waves. Faraday observed that when a container of water with a liquid-air interface is shaken vertically at frequency ω_D , surface-waves develop which oscillate at frequencies $\omega = \frac{n}{m}\omega_D$, which are rational subharmonics of the drive (Faraday, 1831;

Rayleigh, 1883a). The sub-harmonics can be understood as standing-wave modes that are forced via *parametric resonance* (Rayleigh, 1883b). A precise mathematical understanding of the instability is obtained by linearizing the incompressible Euler equations for surface waves (Benjamin and Ursell, 1954) in the presence of periodic acceleration. This reduces the problem to a set of "Mathieu equations" for each Fourier component of the surface height q,

$$\ddot{q}_k = -[\omega_k^2 + \delta_k \cos(\omega_D t)]q_k \tag{5}$$

where q_k is the amplitude of the surface-wave at wavevector k, ω_k is the natural frequency of the surface wave, and δ_k is proportional to the driving amplitude. The Mathieu equation features an exponentially-growing solution (which precisely looks like a subharmonic response) of the approximate form $\sim e^{t\Gamma} \cos(t\omega_D/2 + \theta)$ when a mode satisfies $\omega_D \sim 2\omega_k$ (McLachlan, 1947). As we will discuss, the non-linearity then regulates the blow-up and stabilizes $S\tau B$. Since the Euler equations are Hamiltonian (Olver, 1982), it might seem that Faradaywave instabilities then provide a Hamiltonian example of $S\tau B$.

However, while this analysis implies a *linear* subharmonic instability, it does not resolve whether the motion at long times is an example of $S\tau B$ in the strong sense. While the non-linearities which are generically present have the favorable property of regulating the exponential blow-up, they also couple different k-modes. A generic initial condition will contain some energy in these high-k modes, which will then act as an effectively noisy force on the motion of the k mode in which one is hoping to observe stable $S\tau B$. The key question can then be summarized as follows: Does $S\tau B$ survive when treating the Faraday wave problem as a genuine non-linear many-body system, and if not, what governs the auto-correlation time of the long-lived subharmonic response manifestly seen in experiments?

B. Floquet Hamiltonians and emergent symmetries

In order to answer this question, it will prove helpful to walk through a specific example and to develop some intuition along the way. To this end, we will work through the example of a shaken non-linear pendulum (i.e. a parametrically driven non-linear oscillator); for a single pendulum (and even in the few-body case), we will see that one naturally gets stable $S\tau B$ as a consequence of the Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser (KAM) theorem. (Givental *et al.*, 2009; Kolmogorov, 1954; Möser, 1962) In a truly many-body system, however, $S\tau B$ becomes unstable. We will argue that there is an intuitive, general, mechanism underlying this obstruction: ergodicity. Along the way, we will introduce and develop a particularly important construct — namely, the Floquet



FIG. 3 (a) Schematic depiction of a time-dependent rotating frame, which transforms the original time-dependent H(t)into the time-independent Floquet Hamiltonian, H_F . Timetranslation symmetry breaking (here with period m = 2) can be understood as spontaneous symmetry breaking of an *internal* \mathbb{Z}_m -symmetry of the Floquet Hamiltonian. Figure adapted from (Yao and Nayak, 2018). (b) Contours of equal "quasi-energy" $H_F(Q, P)$ for a non-linear parametric oscillator near a 2:1 resonance. The original coordinates of the oscillator q, p are related to the coordinates Q, Pthrough a time-dependent canonical transformation given approximately by Eq. (7). The two minima of H_F , at which (Q, P) are time-independent, map back to the two exactlyperiod doubled orbits, $q_*(t) = -q_*(t+T_0)$. As predicted by Eq.(11), time-translation symmetry manifests as a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry $H_F(Q + \pi, P) = H_F(Q, P)$. Panel (a) is reproduced from (Yao and Nayak, 2018), with the permission of AIP Publishing. Panel (b) adapted from Fig. 4 of (Zounes and Rand, 2002).

Hamiltonian — which will provide a unifying framework for understanding many versions of $S\tau B$ in closed Hamiltonian systems (both quantum and classical).

Consider the Hamiltonian for a shaken non-linear pendulum:

$$H(q, p, t) = \frac{p^2}{2} + \frac{\omega_0^2}{2} (1 + \delta \cos(\omega_D t))q^2 + \frac{\epsilon}{4}q^4.$$
 (6)

To connect to the Faraday wave discussion above, the reader may think of this pendulum as a specific k-mode, where we are now explicitly accounting for the non-linearity but neglecting the inter-mode coupling. The linearized equations of motion give rise to the Mathieu equation [c.f. Eq. (5)] and the goal, with respect to time crystalline order, would be to prove that the non-linearity stabilizes $S\tau B$.

1. The rotating frame: constructing the Floquet Hamiltonian

Near a period doubled solution of Eq. 6, one expects on physical grounds that trajectories should approximately take the form

$$q(t) - ip(t) = \sqrt{2P(t)}e^{i(\omega_D t/2 + Q(t))}$$
 (7)

where Q(t), P(t) are slowly varying in comparison to ω_D . The transformation that takes $(q, p) \to (Q, P)$ is a timedependent canonical transformation, which we denote by

 $\mathcal{K}_0(t)$; this transformation can be thought of as taking the system to a particular "rotating frame" (Fig. 3a). Note that the period of the rotation is sub-harmonic, $\mathcal{K}_0(mT) = \mathcal{K}_0(0)$ (in the period-doubled case, m = 2). In the rotating frame, the Hamiltonian, H(Q, P, t) is still time-dependent, but the natural frequencies of the system (i.e. those which govern the slowly-varying motion of Q(t), P(t) are now off-resonant with ω_D . Thus, one can attempt to follow up with a second transformation in order to generate a completely time-independent "Floquet Hamiltonian": H_F (Buchleitner *et al.*, 2002; Else et al., 2017, 2020a; Holthaus, 1995). This second transformation takes the form of a so-called Magnus expansion and the composite transformation is given by $\mathcal{K}(t) = \mathcal{K}_{\text{magnus}}(t) \circ \mathcal{K}_0(t)$, again with $\mathcal{K}(mT) = \mathcal{K}(0)$. In summary, the strategy is to find a canonical transformation $\mathcal{K}(t): (q, p) \to (Q, P)$ such that the transformed Hamiltonian $H_F(Q, P)$ is time-independent. This idea that H(q, p, t) might actually be equivalent to an equilibrium system (i.e. governed by H_F) in an appropriate time-dependent rotating frame is referred to as "cryptoequilibrium" in (Else et al., 2020b; Yao and Nayak, 2018).

We emphasize that a-priori, the Magnus expansion may not converge, in which case the pair of objects $\{\mathcal{K}(t), H_F\}$ need not exist — this will be the precise obstruction to stable $S\tau B$ in the many-body Faraday-wave case. Note that in the quantum setting (which we will return to in just a few paragraphs), one can, in principle, always define a Floquet Hamiltonian by taking the logarithm of the Floquet unitary; thus, in this case, one should replace the "need not exist" from the previous sentence with the fact that H_F will be highly non-local.

As a preview, we note that the distinction between a true discrete time crystal (Sec. IV.B) and the prethermal discrete time crystal (Sec. IV.D) can precisely be understood as *whether* the Magnus expansion converges. In the former case, it does and one has a well defined Floquet Hamiltonian, H_F , while in the latter case, it *almost* does, leading to:

$$H(Q, P, t) = H_{\text{eff}}(Q, P) + V(t). \tag{8}$$

Here, H_{eff} is an effective Hamiltonian that captures the system's stroboscopic dynamics for exponentially long time-scales and V(t) is the (exponentially small) residual time-dependence which cannot be "rotated" away by the Magnus expansion.

The concept of a "rotating frame" transformation in the quantum case is completely analogous. In particular, within the quantum setting, the dynamics are captured by a unitary time evolution operator:

$$U(t_1, t_0) = \mathcal{T} \exp\left(-i \int_{t_0}^{t_1} H(t) dt\right), \qquad (9)$$

where \mathcal{T} represents time-ordering. In this case, $\mathcal{K}(t)$ is a unitary transformation chosen such that the time-

evolution operator $U(t_1, t_0)$ decomposes as

$$U(t_1, t_0) = \mathcal{K}^{-1}(t_1) e^{-i(t_1 - t_0)H_F} \mathcal{K}(t_0)$$
(10)

with $\mathcal{K}(mT) = \mathcal{K}(0)$ and H_F suitably local. $\mathcal{K}(t)$ is referred to as the "micromotion," since it contains the components of the dynamics at harmonics of ω_D/m , while the "slow" part of the motion resides in H_F (Buchleitner *et al.*, 2002; Bukov *et al.*, 2015; Eckardt and Anisimovas, 2015; Rahav *et al.*, 2003; Shirley, 1965; Zel'Dovich, 1973). When restricting to the stroboscopic dynamics, the "Floquet unitary" which implements a single discrete time step is given by $U_F = U(T,0) = \mathcal{K}^{-1}(T)e^{-iTH_F}\mathcal{K}(0)$. To ensure that the connection to the notation in Eq. 3 is clear, we note that Floquet unitary, U_F , then furnishes the dynamical map Φ which acts on the quantum state $x = |\psi\rangle$.

2. Time translation symmetry breaking as internal symmetry breaking of the Floquet Hamiltonian

If the micromotion is periodic, $\mathcal{K}(T) = \mathcal{K}(0)$, there can be no $S\tau B$, since the stroboscopic dynamics become canonically equivalent to the un-driven dynamics of H_F , and $S\tau B$ is forbidden in equilibrium (Bruno, 2013; Watanabe and Oshikawa, 2015). But in a timecrystal, the frame rotates subharmonically (Fig. 3a), i.e. $\mathcal{K}(mT) = \mathcal{K}(0)$, and the transformation X = $\mathcal{K}(0)\mathcal{K}^{-1}(T)$ is non-trivial. The transformation X then plays a crucial role since it permutes through the m cycles of the sub-harmonic response. In the specific case of the shaken non-linear pendulum [c.f. Eq. (7)], for example, $X : (Q, P) \to (Q + \pi, P)$. We will expand upon this discussion in the next subsection (Sec. III.B.4).

Under rather general conditions, the Magnus expansion can be constructed to ensure that $X = \mathcal{K}(nT)\mathcal{K}^{-1}(nT+T)$ is independent of n (Else *et al.*, 2017, 2020a; Machado *et al.*, 2020), which then ensures that $X^m = \mathbb{I}$. Substituting Eq. (10) into the time-translation symmetry U(T, 0) = U(2T, T), one finds that

$$X^{-1}e^{-iTH_F}X = e^{-iTH_F}.$$
 (11)

In other words, X is an internal \mathbb{Z}_m symmetry of the Floquet Hamiltonian (Buchleitner *et al.*, 2002; Else *et al.*, 2017; Holthaus, 1995; von Keyserlingk *et al.*, 2016). While the emergence of an internal symmetry may seem mysterious, it is really just a re-expression of the original discrete time-translation symmetry in a frame which is rotated by X at each step (Fig. 3a). In (Else *et al.*, 2020a), this intertwining is referred to as "twisted timetranslation". However, the emergence of such a symmetry was pointed out well before the recent interest in $S\tau B$; see for example the extensive literature on non-spreading wavepackets in periodically driven systems. (Buchleitner *et al.*, 2002; Holthaus, 1995; Holthaus and Flatté, 1994).

The existence of a Floquet Hamiltonian H_F and an emergent symmetry X immediately leads to the possibility of $S\tau B$. In particular, suppose that the dynamics of H_F spontaneously break the X symmetry. Intuitively, this means that the state space breaks up into m "superselection" sectors which are permuted by the action of X but which are not connected by evolution under H_F . In the rotating frame, a trajectory thus gets stuck within a sector, and mapping back to the lab frame using $\mathcal{K}^{-1}(t)$, one finds that the average behavior will oscillate with period m. More rigorously, symmetry breaking implies that there are m different initial conditions $y_j = (Q_j, P_j)$ which are related by the symmetry, $y_{j+1} = Xy_j$. The time-averaged behaviors of these different initial conditions are distinct (in the rotating frame), e.g., there are local observables O with $\bar{O}(y_j) \equiv \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{n=0}^{\tau} O(y_j(nT)) \neq \bar{O}(y_{j+1})$. Transforming back to the lab frame, $x_j(t) = \mathcal{K}^{-1}(t)y_j(t)$ and substituting in the definitions, one immediately finds that the definition of time-crystalline order [c.f. Eq. (3)] is satisfied.

One thus arrives at a correspondence between m-fold $S\tau B$ and the more familiar notion of \mathbb{Z}_m -spontaneous symmetry breaking with respect to H_F (in the rotating frame). This illustrates a general principle of all closed Hamiltonian many-body time-crystals discovered thus far (Fig. 1): In a Hamiltonian time-crystal, the discrete time-translation symmetry of H(t) manifests as a spontaneously broken internal \mathbb{Z}_m -symmetry of the Floquet Hamiltonian H_F (Else *et al.*, 2017, 2020a; von Keyserlingk *et al.*, 2016). In a sense this bring us back full circle to our starting inspiration, the Landau paradigm (Sec. I), with the crucial replacement $H \to H_F$.

3. The spectral perspective

While the above formalism applies equally well in the classical and quantum settings, in the quantum case an equivalent definition can be given in terms of the spectral properties of the Floquet operator U_F alone (Buchleitner *et al.*, 2002; Holthaus, 1995; Sacha, 2015): a discrete time crystal is a phase of matter in which the eigenstates of U_F are *necessarily* "cat states," i.e. superpositions of macroscopically-distinct states (Else *et al.*, 2016). This is a direct generalization of the statement that when a conventional symmetry is spontaneously broken in an equilibrium system, the low-energy eigenstates that transform simply under the symmetry (e.g. eigenstates of the center or Cartan sub-algebra (Fulton and Harris, 2013) of the symmetry group) are necessarily cat states.

To unpack this definition we investigate the implications of Sec. III.B.2 for the "Floquet eigenstates" $U_F|\varepsilon_F\rangle = e^{-iT\varepsilon_F}|\varepsilon_F\rangle$. Here the "quasienergies" ε_F are defined modulo the driving frequency $\varepsilon_F \equiv \varepsilon_F + \omega_D$. As discussed, U_F exhibits $S\tau B$ when there is a decomposition $U_F = X e^{-iTH_F}$ for which H_F spontaneously breaks the symmetry $[X, H_F] = 0$. In the thermodynamic limit, spontaneous symmetry breaking implies that the eigenstates of H_F come in degenerate pairs permuted by the symmetry, $X |\uparrow\rangle = |\downarrow\rangle$ (we focus on $X^2 = 1$ for simplicity)¹. However, in a finite system, the eigenstates of H_F must simultaneously diagonalize X, so they come in pairs $|\pm\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\uparrow\rangle \pm |\downarrow\rangle$ with eigenvalues $\epsilon^{\pm} = \epsilon \pm \Delta$ which are split by an amount $\Delta \sim e^{-L/\xi}$ which is exponentially small in the system size L if the system is to exhbit true $S\tau B$. The eigenstates of H_F are thus "cat states," since the constituent $|\uparrow / \downarrow\rangle$ are macroscopically distinct. The quasienergies of U_F are then obtained by including their eigenvalue under X: $\epsilon_F^+ = \epsilon + \Delta$, and $\epsilon_F^- = \epsilon - \Delta + \omega_D/2$. The spectrum of U_F thus consists of pairs of cat states with eigenvalues that differ by $\omega_D/2$ up to exponential accuracy in L.

To relate this spectral property back to Eq. (3), note that an initial state $|x\rangle$ will generically have amplitude on both the $|+\rangle$ and $|-\rangle$ states of each pair. Due to the eigenvalue pairing, the system will thus coherently oscillate at frequency $\omega_D/2$, up to a dephasing time $\tau \sim \Delta^{-1}$ which diverges exponentially in L.

4. Application to many-body parametric resonance

formalism Let us now see how the from Secs. III.B.1, III.B.2 plays out for a single parametrically driven non-linear pendulum [c.f. Eq. 6]. Chirikov, 1979 and Zounes and Rand, 2002 showed that $H_F(Q, P)$ indeed exists within a finite volume of phase space (calling it the "resonance Kamiltonian"), and that courtesy of the KAM theorem, its existence is stable to small perturbations. The contours of equal "quasi-energy" $H_F(Q, P)$ are shown in Fig. 3b. As aforementioned, we see that H_F exhibits a \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry, $X: Q \to Q + \pi$, which exchanges two local minima enclosed by a separatrix. The detailed construction of $\mathcal{K}(t)$ is quite involved, but the *approximate* intuition is as follows: One starts with the canonical transformation in Eq. (7), and removes the residual time dependence order-by-order through a sequence of transformations whose convergence is guaranteed by the KAM theorem. The two minima of H_F , $Q, P = (\pm \frac{\pi}{2}, P_*)$, are fixed points of H_F ; mapping back to the lab frame, one obtains two precisely period doubled orbits related by

time translation, $\mathcal{K}^{-1}(t) : (\pm \frac{\pi}{2}, P_*) \to q_*(t \pm T/2), p_*(t).$ Small deviations from the minima circulate around quasi-energy contours, corresponding to slow oscillations about the period doubled motion. Similar behavior is seen in other periodically driven problems, such as the kicked rotor model, whose stroboscopic motion Φ reduces to Chirikov's standard map,(Chirikov, 1979) or a particle bouncing off an oscillating mirror(Holthaus, 1995; Holthaus and Flatté, 1994). In this 0D case, the $S\tau B$ arises because KAM stability allows the quasienergy to "split up" the $\{Q, P\}$ -space into disconnected basins (Fig. 3b), rather than because of a collective Furthermore in 0D there is long-range phenomena. order in time, but not in space, and as such the reader may prefer not consider this case a time crystal. This analysis also illustrates why the quantum version of a parametrically-driven non-linear oscillator will not feature infinitely long-lived $S\tau B$: while a quantum Floquet Hamiltonian with a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry may exist, for any finite barrier height there will be quantum tunneling between the two minima at a rate $\sim 1/\tau$. This leads to a unique \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetric steady state, and the subharmonic response will have a correlation time of τ . (Buchleitner et al., 2002; Holthaus, 1995; Holthaus and Flatté, 1994; Sacha, 2015) analyze several examples of such quantum subharmonic responses and provide estimates of the tunneling rate, including a particle bouncing off an oscillating mirror, a topic we will return to in Sec. IV.E.

The fly in the ointment comes when we attempt to construct H_F in the many-body setting. In particular, let us consider an array of coupled pendula by adding a nearest-neighbor interaction to Eq. 6,

$$H(q, p, t) = \sum_{i} \left[\frac{p_i^2}{2} + \frac{\omega_0^2}{2} (1 + \delta \cos(\omega_D t)) q_i^2 + \frac{\epsilon}{4} q_i^4 \right] - g \sum_{\langle i, j \rangle} (q_i - q_j)^2.$$
(12)

Physically, the reader can think of this as treating the pendulum as a *macroscopic* object composed of atoms (i.e. the Frenkel-Kontorova model (Kontorova and Frenkel, 1938)). It differs from the Faraday problem in the details of the dispersion and non-linearity, but is otherwise conceptually similar.

If the initial condition is uniform, $q_i, p_i = q, p$, the problem exactly reduces to Eq. (6) which we now know exhibits stable period doubling. But stability for a *finite-volume* of initial conditions requires one to consider initial conditions of the form, $q_i = q_* + \delta q_i$, in which the δq_i are small but independent. Using the language we introduced near Eq. 5, there is now weight in the higher-k modes, q_k , which are all-to-all coupled through the $\sum_i q_i^4$ non-linearity, so the center-of-mass mode (i.e. k = 0) cannot be examined in isolation. While one can attempt to employ the same time-dependent canonical transformation $\mathcal{K}(t)$ site-by-site, for generic ini-

¹ In conventional symmetry breaking, only eigenstates with energy densities below the symmetry-breaking temperature T_c have this structure. However, if many-body localization is able to exist in Floquet Hamiltonians (Ponte *et al.*, 2015; Sels and Polkovnikov, 2021; Šuntajs *et al.*, 2020), it is believed that symmetry breaking must manifest at *all* energy densities (De Roeck *et al.*, 2016; Moudgalya *et al.*, 2020; Sahay *et al.*, 2021).

tial conditions the coupling $g(q_i - q_j)^2$ will not be exactly time-independent after this transformation; thus, since the transformed Hamiltonian $H(Q_i, P_i, t)$ remains timedependent we cannot appeal to the conservation of H_F to ensure stability. One can attempt to remedy this by adjusting the canonical transformation via a perturbative expansion in g, but there is a rather general reason to expect this expansion will fail to converge in the thermodynamic limit: the ubiquity of ergodicity.

C. Ergodicity, destroyer of time-crystals

As we have discussed, Hamiltonian systems are distinguished from more general dynamical systems like coupled map lattices by the existence of a phase-space volume element, $d\mu = dq \wedge dp$, which is invariant under the dynamics, i.e., the dynamics are "measure preserving." An invertible measure preserving system is said to be *ergodic* if the only finite-volume subset A which is invariant under the discrete-time update rule Φ (i.e. $\Phi(A) = A$) is the entire phase space. An equivalent statement is that the orbit of any volume $\bigcup_m \Phi^{(m)}(A)$ eventually fills all of phase space (Cornfeld et al., 2012). Full ergodicity is incompatible with the existence of a time-independent $H_F(Q, P)$ because the conservation of the quasi-energy H_F partitions phase space into Φ -invariant quasi-energy contours (though the dynamics may be ergodic within each contour). A time-dependent many-body system with a bounded state space is *generically* expected to be ergodic in the thermodynamic limit. 2

Or, in the unbounded case: the generic fate of a driven, many-body Hamiltonian system is to heat up. In an ergodic system, Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem (Birkhoff, 1931; Cornfeld *et al.*, 2012) equates a temporal average of the sort defined in Eq. (3) with averages over the entire phase-space. Thus $S\tau B$ necessarily requires $\Phi^{(m)}$ to be non-ergodic: a time-crystal "remembers" its initial condition for an infinitely long time because it is encoded in the phase of the period-*m* oscillations. $S\tau B$ is thereby deeply connected with another profound phenomena: ergodicity breaking.

When the interactions are weak, or the driving is strong, the *time-scale* required to explore all of phase space can be very large, so in practice, $S\tau B$ may persist out to very long times τ . This behavior is sometimes referred to as slow *Floquet heating*. While energy is not conserved, in systems described by an effective Floquet Hamiltonian [Eq. (8)], the quasienergy $\langle H_{\rm eff} \rangle$ will change slowly due to the residual drive V(t), eventually allowing the system to explore its full phase space. We will return to such anomalously long time scales when we discuss "prethermal" time-crystals in Sec. IV.D.

The existence of such a long time scale is certainly one ingredient in Faraday's observation of period-doubling in a system which is Hamiltonian. An additional role is played by viscosity, which converts the high-k oscillations of the surface into heat which is eventually dissipated into the environment. When viscosity alone is added to the equations of motion, the system is no longer measure preserving and becomes analogous to the coupled map lattices where true $S\tau B$ is possible. However, this might seem to be a contradiction, because viscosity is after all a phenomenological treatment of microscopic degrees of freedom which are themselves Hamiltonian! The key is that at any finite temperature (energy density), a microscopic bath invariably generates *noise* in addition to viscosity, as required by the fluctuation-dissipation theorem. Understanding the fate of $S\tau B$ in the presence of dissipation and noise is a particularly rich direction; we will return to the possibility of such "open" time-crystals in Sec. V.

To summarize, in dissipative dynamical systems like the coupled map lattices, stable, many-body $S\tau B$ is possible, and time-crystals in this context have a long history. But their realization in measure-preserving systems which describe the universe at the microscopic level is far more subtle. While stable $S\tau B$ is possible in few-body classical systems such as a parametric resonator (i.e. the shaken pendulum example in Sec. III.B.4), their existence in many-body systems requires, at minimum, a generic mechanism for breaking ergodicity. In closed classical systems, this is not thought to be possible except when the system is fine tuned. This is where the magic of quantum mechanics comes in, through the remarkable physics of many-body localization (MBL). MBL allows for stable ergodicity breaking in the thermodynamic limit, and where there is ergodicity breaking, there will be timecrystals.

IV. CLOSED, PERIODICALLY-DRIVEN QUANTUM SYSTEMS

A. Introduction to quantum Floquet phases

As noted above, ergodicity-breaking is necessary for the stability of a time crystal. In fact, with the insights of the previous section in hand, one can utilize almost any generic, robust form of ergodicity-breaking to stabilize a time crystal. However, this wasn't immediately apparent when many-body localization (Abanin *et al.*, 2019;

² The ideas emanating from Boltzmann's "ergodic hypothesis" postulate that time-*independent* many-body systems are generically ergodic within each conserved energy shell.(Von Plato, 1991) This hypothesis relates to the Floquet setting by converting the time-dependent Hamiltonian H(t) into a timeindependent $\mathcal{H} = H(t) + \pi_t$, where (t, π_t) are an additional canonical pair living on the cylinder $t \sim t + T$. If \mathcal{H} is ergodic on an energy shell, then the stroboscopic dynamics of H(t) are fully ergodic.



FIG. 4 (a) Signatures of time crystalline order were observed in a one dimensional chain of Ytterbium ions. In this system, the effective spin degree of freedom is encoded in two hyperfine "clock" states of a ¹⁷¹Yb⁺ ion. (b) By varying the interaction strength (x-axis), which is effectively parameterized by an interaction time-scale, and the strength of the perturbation on the π -pulse (y-axis), (Zhang *et al.*, 2017) were able to observe the system's behavior change from a discrete time crystal phase to a time-translation symmetry unbroken phase. Figure adapted from Fig. 3(b) of (Zhang *et al.*, 2017). (c) (Choi *et al.*, 2017a) utilized a diamond sample containing a high density of Nitrogen-Vacancy color centers (~ 15 ppm) (Choi *et al.*, 2020). In this system, the spin consists of two m_s -sublevels and NV centers interact with one another via magnetic dipole-dipole interactions. The interplay between the long-ranged dipolar interaction and the three dimensional nature of the sample is conjectured to lead to critically slow thermalization (Ho *et al.*, 2017; Kucsko *et al.*, 2018), during which discrete time crystalline order can be observed. (d) Experimentally measured phase boundary (red dashed line through diamond data points added as a guide) of the critical discrete time crystal as a function of the effective interaction strength and the π -pulse imperfection. Figure adapted from Fig. 3(b) of (Choi *et al.*, 2017a).

Nandkishore and Huse, 2015) was originally discovered.

Many-body localization occurs in 1D and, possibly, 2D systems with strong quenched disorder and short-ranged interactions (Choi et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). It represents a failure of the eigenstate thermalization hypothesis (Deutsch, 1991; Srednicki, 1994) that occurs when disorder prevents equilibration by localizing the degrees of freedom of a system. Locally-injected energy cannot spread throughout the system (Abanin et al., 2019; Abanin and Papić, 2017; Nandkishore and Huse, 2015). MBL was originally formulated as a property of highlydisordered time-independent Hamiltonians \hat{H} in which local observables fail to relax to their thermal average with respect to $e^{-\beta \hat{H}}$ and, instead, the long-time behavior depends on the details of the initial state, a clear example of ergodicity breaking. It was subsequently realized that MBL can also occur in 1D periodically-driven systems with strong disorder for appropriate driving parameters (Abanin et al., 2016; Lazarides et al., 2015; Ponte et al., 2015). In such Floquet-MBL systems, energy absorbed during one part of the drive cycle must be returned before its completion (Bordia et al., 2017; D'Alessio and Polkovnikov, 2013; Ponte et al., 2015). Consequently, the energy spreading and thermalization necessary for drive-induced Floquet heating cannot occur (Sec. III.C).

In the meantime, interest in Floquet systems had been re-energized by seminal work demonstrating that periodic driving can induce topological properties in an otherwise nominally trivial system (Inoue and Tanaka, 2010; Jiang et al., 2011; von Keyserlingk and Sondhi, 2016a,b; Lindner et al., 2011; Potirniche et al., 2017; Potter et al., 2016; Roy and Harper, 2016, 2017; Thakurathi et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). In particular, (Jiang et al., 2011) and (Thakurathi et al., 2013) considered periodically-driven versions of a Majorana chain in which the time-dependent Hamiltonian toggles between topological superconducting and trivial insulating states. These free fermion models avoid Floquet heating by virtue of their integrability, which does not survive generic perturbations involving interactions. For such drives, the Floquet operator takes on a particularly simple form, $U_{\rm F} = \exp\left[ic\sum_{j}i\gamma_{j}^{A}\gamma_{j}^{B}\right]\exp\left[iJ\sum_{j}i\gamma_{j}^{B}\gamma_{j+1}^{B}\right]$ (Prosen, 1998; Thakurathi *et al.*, 2013). For *c* near $\pi/2$, there are "Floquet Majorana fermions" at quasienergy π . In other words, there are locally-indistinguishable states of even/odd fermion parity, associated with edge modes. In an undriven system, Majorana edge modes would be degenerate (i.e. they would be zero modes), but the periodic driving splits their Floquet eigenvalues by π .

This property of the spectrum does not imply subharmonic response of the system for generic initial conditions (and, moreover, it is not stable to interactions). However, a Jordan-Wigner transformation of the driven Majorana chain yields a driven Ising model that exhibits subharmonic oscillations of the Ising order parameter; moreover, by adding strong disorder leading to MBL, the system could be stabilized against interactions (Khemani *et al.*, 2016). Initially it was not believed that the subharmonic response of the resulting " π spin glass" could survive in the absence of the Ising symmetry, implying that, in analogy to the discussions of the XY magnet in Sec. II.A, a time crystal stable against generic perturbations did not exist (Khemani *et al.*, 2016).

This sentiment was overturned in (Else *et al.*, 2016), which showed that discrete time crystals are a stable phase of matter in Floquet-MBL systems with only time translation symmetry. In particular, a discrete time crystal in a closed system must satisfy Eq. 3 in the absence of a bath and in a manner that is stable against arbitrary weak perturbations respecting time translation symmetry. Other symmetries may or may not be present, but Eq. 3 should hold even when those symmetries are violated. These developments led rapidly to the first phase diagram for a time crystal and to proposals describing how to create and measure discrete time crystals in experiments (Yao *et al.*, 2017), culminating in the first observations of time-crystalline behavior (Fig. 4) (Choi *et al.*, 2017a; Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

Thus far, the above discussions have focused on manybody localization as a possible strategy for stabilizing discrete time crystals. One of the caveats of using MBL is that the approach depends on the robustness of manybody localization itself. While MBL has purportedly been proven to exist in certain undriven, one-dimensional spin chain models with random local interactions (Imbrie, 2016), its stability in d > 1 and in long-range interacting systems remains an open question (De Roeck and Huveneers, 2017; Khemani et al., 2021; Luitz et al., 2017; Thiery et al., 2018; Yao et al., 2014, 2021); to date, there is no mathematical proof for the stability of many-body localized $S\tau B$ in a Floquet system in any dimension. An alternate strategy for stabilizing DTC order, termed Floquet prethermalization, can occur in any dimension and in the presence of long-range interactions, so long as the driving frequency, ω_D , is sufficiently high. To this end, in the remainder of this section focused on closed systems (Fig. 1), we will focus in subsection IV.B on MBL discrete time crystals in 1D and in subsection IV.D on prethermal discrete time crystals in arbitrary dimension and with power-law interactions.

B. Many-body localized discrete time crystal

Our focus in this subsection will be on highlighting the key features of time crystalline order in Floquet MBL systems, by describing recent observations from three distinct experimental platforms: trapped atomic ions (Yao *et al.*, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2017), spins in solid state materials (Abobeih *et al.*, 2019; Randall *et al.*, 2021), and superconducting qubits (Arute *et al.*, 2019; Frey and Rachel, 2022; Mi *et al.*, 2021).

Before describing the experiments, we begin by introducing a standard model for a period-doubled discrete time crystal in a spin-1/2 chain, and discuss several limits of this model. While the experiments will not implement this specific Floquet unitary, the spirit of their Floquet dynamics will be captured by this example. In particular, consider Floquet time evolution (with a period, $T_0 = t_1 + t_2$) governed by alternating between two time-independent Hamiltonians:

$$H(t) = \begin{cases} H_1, & \text{for time } t_1 \\ H_2, & \text{for time } t_2. \end{cases}$$
(13)

Let us take H_1 , H_2 as given by:

$$H_1 = -\sum_{\langle i,j \rangle} J_{ij} \sigma_i^z \sigma_j^z - \sum_i \left(h_i^z \sigma_i^z + h_i^y \sigma_i^y + h_i^x \sigma_i^x \right)$$
$$H_2 = g \sum_i \sigma_i^x. \tag{14}$$

with $\vec{\sigma}$ being Pauli spin operators and $J_{ii}, h_i^x, h_i^y, h_i^z$ sufficiently disordered to ensure that the spin chain is many-body localized. The simplest way to see the (trivial) emergence of a period-doubled (i.e. $\nu = 1/2$ subharmonic) response is to consider the decoupled limit $(J_{ij}=0)$ with only a longitudinal field, h_z , along \hat{z} . For any individual spin initially along the \hat{z} -axis, the spin will Larmor precess around the \hat{x} -field during the second portion, H_2 , of the Floquet evolution. When timed appropriately, $t_2 = \pi/q$, this evolution implements a so-called π -pulse, which flips the spin, and causes a period-doubled response. However, much like our discussion of the map $\Phi(x) = -x$ in Section II, this period doubling is not rigid to perturbations and not indicative of a many-body phase. In particular, any imperfections in the timing of the π -pulse will immediately lead to the breakdown of the period-doubled response (Yao *et al.*, 2017). However, by turning on the Ising interactions between the spins, in conjunction with the disorder which leads to MBL, the system becomes robust to small imperfections and the subharmonic response is rigid to arbitrary, weak perturbations of both the initial state and the Hamiltonian (so long as these perturbations respect the period of the Floquet evolution). We note that this last parenthetical distinguishes time crystalline order in closed systems from time crystalline order in open systems, where perturbations that explicitly break the discrete time translation symmetry of the dynamics can still be allowed (see Section V.E).

C. Experimental signatures of disordered time crystals

1. Trapped ion spin chains

Zhang et al., 2017 observed and characterized time

crystalline behavior in a spin chain (Fig. 4a) composed of trapped atomic ions. In the experiment, each ion acts as an effective spin, and interactions are controlled through external, optical spin-dependent forces (Monroe et al., 2021). The system is periodically driven by successively applying three time-independent Hamiltonians, corresponding to a global drive, interactions, and disorder (Smith et al., 2016). The disorder is programmed by individually addressing each spin with a tunable laser beam. The ion chain was composed of a relatively small number of effective spins (between L = 10 - 14) and the time crystalline response exhibited some sensitivity to the initial conditions (Khemani et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2017), suggesting that long-range interactions could be leading to a time crystalline response stabilized by prethermalization (Sec. IV.D) rather than localization. The experiment was able to observe a cross-over between the DTC regime and the symmetry unbroken phase (Fig. 4b). To do so, Zhang et al., 2017 measured the Fourier spectrum of each individual spin and studied the variance of the amplitude of the $\nu = 1/2$ subharmonic response as a function of the π -pulse imperfection, ε . By increasing the strength of the interactions between the ion spins, they demonstrated that the location of the variance peak shifted toward larger values of ε , consistent with the expectation that many-body interactions are essential for stabilizing time crystalline order.

2. Spins in condensed matter

Signatures of time crystalline order in solid-state systems have been observed in both disordered Nitrogen-Vacancy (NV) ensembles (Choi et al., 2017a; Ho et al., 2017) and NMR systems (Luitz et al., 2020; Pal et al., 2018; Rovny et al., 2018a,b). In the context of NV centers (Fig. 4c,d), despite the presence of strong disorder, it is known that dipolar interactions in three-dimensions cannot lead to localization; however, the resulting timecrystalline order can exhibit an anomalously long lifetime owing to critically slow thermalization (Ho et al., 2017). One of the puzzles arising from NMR experiments on phosphorus nuclear spins in ammonium dihydrogen phosphate was the observation of period doubling despite the lack of disorder and a high temperature initial state; these observations were ultimately understood as consequences of an approximate long-lived U(1) conservation law (Luitz et al., 2020), which leads to effective prethermal time crystalline order (see Sec. IV.D).

Recent work in the solid-state has focused on pushing toward a realization of time crystalline order in a regime compatible with many-body localization (Randall *et al.*, 2021). As depicted in Fig. 5(a), Randall *et al.*, 2021 utilize a platform consisting of a precisely characterized array of 27 nuclear spins surrounding a single NV center in diamond (Abobeih *et al.*, 2019). Owing to differences in the hyperfine interaction strengths, each nuclear spin is individually addressable (for both initialization and read out [Fig. 5(b)]). In order to work with an effective onedimensional geometry (thus avoiding issues regarding the stability of MBL in d > 1), (Randall *et al.*, 2021) select a specific 9-spin subset of the 27 nuclear spins. By preparing a variety of product initial states, (Randall *et al.*, 2021) demonstrates that dipolar interactions between the nuclear spins lead to robust period doubling for nearly $\sim 10^3$ Floquet cycles (note that each Floquet cycle lasts 10 ms), independent of the initial state [Fig. 5(c)]. Moreover, they show that local thermalization occurs within ~ 10 Floquet cycles, demonstrating that the observed time crystalline order is not a result of slow thermalization.

3. Superconducting transmon qubits

Signatures of time crystalline order have also recently been observed in three experiments utilizing superconducting transmon qubits (Frev and Rachel, 2022; Mi et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021). Working with Google's 'Sycamore' processor, (Mi et al., 2021) employ a quantum-circuit-based approach to demonstrating MBL time crystalline order (Ippoliti *et al.*, 2020). In particular, in order to work with a one dimensional system, (Mi et al., 2021) isolate a nearest-neighbor coupled chain of L = 20 qubits from the two-dimensional array (Fig. 5d); an analogous strategy is taken by (Frey and Rachel, 2022), who isolate an L = 57 qubit chain on IBM's quantum processors: *ibmq_manhattan* and ibmg_brooklyn. Both (Mi et al., 2021) and (Frey and Rachel, 2022) utilize one and two-qubit gates in order to implement a digital Floquet sequence. For the experiment performed on the Sycamore processor, the specific Floquet sequence was given by (Fig. 5e),

$$U_F = e^{-\frac{i}{2}\sum_i h_i \sigma_i^z} e^{-\frac{i}{4}\sum_i J_i \sigma_i^z \sigma_{i+1}^z} e^{-\frac{i}{2}\pi g \sum_i \sigma_i^x}, \quad (15)$$

consisting of random longitudinal fields, disordered nearest-neighbor Ising interactions, and approximate π pulses. Deviations from the ideal π -pulse limit (i.e. q = 1in Eq. 15) are used to control the transition between the discrete time crystal phase (i.e. q = 0.97 in Fig. 5f) and the trivial thermal phase (i.e. g = 0.6 in Fig. 5f). To demonstrate that the observed subharmonic response is not affected by the choice of initial states, both (Mi et al., 2021) and (Frey and Rachel, 2022) probe the Floquet dynamics starting from random initial bit-strings. In addition, (Mi *et al.*, 2021) also experimentally implement a finite-size-scaling analysis by varying the length of their one dimensional chain between contiguous subsets of 8, 12, and 16 transmon qubits; this reveals a transition between the MBL discrete time crystal and the thermal phase at a critical value of the π -pulse imperfections, $0.83 \gtrsim g_c \lesssim 0.88$. Finally, in order to characterize



FIG. 5 (a) Schematic image depicting the 9 spin subset of the 27 pre-characterized nuclear spins surrounding the single NV center. (b) Each nuclear spin can be individually initialized and read-out via coupling to the NV center. The Floquet sequence consists of U_{int} , which includes a disordered long-ranged Ising interaction and a disordered longitudinal field followed by an approximate π -pulse, $R_x(\theta)$. The disorder is naturally inherited from the random positioning of the nuclear spins within the diamond lattice. (c) In the MBL discrete time crystal phase, the system exhibits robust subharmonic oscillations lasting $\sim 10^3$ Floquet cycles. The different colors are associated with different initial states, which are characterized by their quasienergy in the right panel. Crucially, the time crystalline behavior is independent of the initial state, as expected for an MBL time crystal. (d) Schematic depicting the 53 transmon qubit Sycamore chip. (Mi *et al.*, 2021) isolate one dimensional chains of L = 8, 12, 16, 20 qubits from this two-dimensional grid. (e) A digital Floquet sequence consisting of random longitudinal fields, disordered nearest-neighbor Ising interactions, and approximate π -pulses are applied to random "bit-string" initial states. (f) In the thermal phase (left panel), the disorder averaged autocorrelation function quickly decays to zero. In the MBL time crystal phase, the same correlation function exhibits subharmonic oscillations lasting $\sim 10^2$ Floquet cycles. (Mi *et al.*, 2021) also implement a benchmarking "echo" sequence, U_{echo} , which demonstrates that the time crystal's lifetime is consistent with being limited by experimental imperfections and decoherence. Figures a-c are adapted from (Randall *et al.*, 2021), while figures d-f are adapted from (Arute *et al.*, 2019) and (Mi *et al.*, 2021).

the intrinsic gate errors and decoherence of their system (with $T_1, T_2 \sim 100 \mu s$ (Arute *et al.*, 2019; Kjaergaard *et al.*, 2020)), (Mi *et al.*, 2021) implement a benchmarking "echo" Floquet sequence, which reverses the digital time evolution after a set number of Floquet cycles. Dividing by this benchmarking sequence leads to signatures of time crystalline order that exhibit minimal effective decay.

D. Prethermal discrete time crystal

1. Floquet prethermalization

While many-body localization provides a quantum approach to realizing a time crystal with an infinite lifetime in the thermodynamic limit, $\tau \sim e^L \to \infty$, in this section, we focus on an alternate, disorder-free strategy, dubbed Floquet prethermalization (Fig. 1). Here, the lifetime of the time crystalline order does not scale with the system size, but can be exponentially long in a particular control parameter, namely, the ratio of the driving frequency to local energy scales, J, within the system: $\tau \sim e^{\omega_D/J}$.

In static systems, the concept of prethermalization is

a powerful framework for understanding the thermalization of systems with disparate energy scales—the dynamics (and thus thermalization) of "fast moving" degrees of freedom are governed by an effective Hamiltonian where the slow degrees of freedom remain basically frozen (Berges et al., 2004; Gring et al., 2012; Kagan and Klinger, 1974). In driven Floquet systems, the presence of two distinct energy scales is particularly natural, since the frequency of the drive and the interaction energyscales within the Hamiltonian are independent. Indeed, it has recently been established that Floquet prethermalization is a generic feature of driven systems in the high-frequency regime (Abanin *et al.*, 2017a,b, 2015; Else et al., 2017; Kuwahara et al., 2016; Mori et al., 2016; Weidinger and Knap, 2017). From the perspective of heating, as discussed in Sec. IV.A, one of the central consequences of Floquet prethermalization is that the frequency of the drive exponentially controls the heating time scale, t_* (Abanin et al., 2015; Machado et al., 2019; Mori et al., 2016). The physical intuition for this exponential scaling is as follow: at large frequencies, $\omega_D \gg J$ (where J is the local energy scale of the many-body system), the system must undergo ~ ω_D/J local rearrangements in



FIG. 6 Schematic depicting prethermal time crystalline order identified via the stroboscopic behavior of the magnetization as a function of time. (a) In the non-time-crystal prethermal phase, the magnetization during even and odd Floquet cycles becomes identical after a short time (corresponding to local thermalization). During the intermediate prethermal regime, this magnetization may remain small, but non-zero, until it decays to zero at the Floquet heating time-scale (long time). (b) In the prethermal discrete time crystal phase, the magnetization oscillates throughout the prethermal regime, leading to stroboscopic curves that exhibit plateau behavior. The prethermal time crystal ultimately melts at exponentially late times, controlled by the frequency of the driving field. Figure adapted from (Else *et al.*, 2017).

order to absorb a single unit of energy from the drive. This intuition holds for both quantum and classical systems, although in the remainder of this subsection, we will focus on the quantum setting; we will return to the classical case in the outlook (Sec. VI.B.1).

Crucially, (Kuwahara *et al.*, 2016) and (Abanin *et al.*, 2017a) proved that up until the timescale, $t_* \sim e^{\omega_D/J}$, the system does not absorb energy from the drive and the stroboscopic Floquet dynamics are (up to exponentially small corrections) captured by an effective static Hamiltonian, H_{eff} . Unlike MBL, these features of Floquet prethermalization are largely independent of disorder, dimension and the range of interactions (Fan *et al.*, 2020; Machado *et al.*, 2020, 2019; Peng *et al.*, 2021; Pizzi *et al.*, 2021a; Rubio-Abadal *et al.*, 2020).

While the ability to exponentially delay the onset of Floquet heating is crucial for realizing and stabilizing a discrete time crystal, one additional key insight is still needed, namely, the observation that $H_{\rm eff}$ can exhibit an emergent symmetry (which need not be present in the original Floquet evolution) protected by the discrete time-translation symmetry of the drive (Else *et al.*, 2017; Machado *et al.*, 2020). The presence of such an emergent symmetry in $H_{\rm eff}$ allows one to sharply define phases of matter (i.e. via symmetry-breaking) in the prethermal regime (Fig. 6). A mathematical description of prethermal discrete time crystals in the quantum setting closely follows the discussion of sections III.B.1 and III.B.2.

This lays the foundation for the connection to time crystalline order—if a many-body system prethermalizes to a state that spontaneously breaks the emergent symmetry of $H_{\rm eff}$, it will also exhibit time-crystalline order, corresponding to a subharmonic oscillation between the different symmetry sectors (Else *et al.*, 2017; Machado *et al.*, 2020).

To recap, within the framework of Floquet prethermalization, realizing a time crystal requires a few ingredients: first, the Floquet drive must induce an emergent symmetry in the prethermal effective Hamiltonian $H_{\rm eff}$. Second, $H_{\rm eff}$ must be able to host a symmetry-broken phase with respect to the emergent symmetry. Note that owing to Landau-Peierls-type arguments, this naturally places constraints on the interaction range and dimensionality for realizing a prethermal discrete time crystal (PDTC) (Kyprianidis *et al.*, 2021; Machado *et al.*, 2020; Pizzi *et al.*, 2021a). Finally, the initial state of the manybody system must have a sufficiently low energy density (measured with respect to $H_{\rm eff}$), such that it equilibrates to the spontaneously symmetry broken phase during the prethermal regime (Fig. 6).

2. Prethermal discrete time crystal in a 1D trapped ion chain

To highlight the dynamical signatures of a prethermal discrete time crystal, as well as the distinctions from an MBL time crystal (Sec. IV.C.2 and Sec. IV.C.3), we turn to a recent experiment performed on a trapped ion quantum simulator (Kyprianidis *et al.*, 2021). As discussed in Sec. IV.C.1, some of the first experimental observations of time crystalline behavior (Fig. 4a,b) were originally observed in small-scale trapped ion experiments (Zhang *et al.*, 2017), and one of the central advances in recent work is the ability to experimentally distinguish between local thermalization (e.g. "short time" in Fig. 6) and late-time dynamics in the prethermal regime.

The experiment consists of a one dimensional chain of N = 25 Ytterbium ions and the Floquet evolution alternates between two types of dynamics. First, a global π -pulse is applied and then second, the system evolves under a disorder-less, long-range, mixed-field Ising model. At leading order in the Floquet-Magnus expansion, the stroboscopic dynamics of the ions are captured by the effective Hamiltonian,

$$H_{\text{eff}} = \sum_{i,j} J_{ij} \sigma_i^x \sigma_j^x + B_y \sum_i \sigma_i^y, \qquad (16)$$

which exhibits an emergent Ising symmetry. To begin, (Kyprianidis *et al.*, 2021) demonstrate that independent of the initial state of the ion chain, the system exhibits slow, frequency-dependent heating to infinite temperature. As aforementioned, in order for the system to exhibit time crystalline order, the initial state of the ion chain must reach a pseudo-equilibrium state (within the prethermal regime) in which it breaks the emergent Ising symmetry (Fig. 7). For a one dimensional system at finite temperature, this is only possible for sufficiently long-ranged interactions (Fisher *et al.*, 1972; Kosterlitz, 1976; Thouless, 1969). The trapped ion system generates such long-range interactions by using a pair of Raman laser beams to couple the internal spin states to motional modes of the ion chain (Sørensen and Mølmer, 1999).

Initializing the system with a Néel state (top, Fig. 7a), (Kyprianidis *et al.*, 2021) observe that the magnetization, $M(t) = 1/N \sum_{i=1}^{N} \langle \sigma_i^x(t) \rangle \langle \sigma_i^x(0) \rangle$ quickly decays to zero, in agreement with the expectation that the system equilibrates to a symmetry- unbroken paramagnetic state. On the other hand, starting from a polarized initial state, M(t) exhibits period doubling (bottom, Fig. 7a), whose lifetime is directly controlled by the frequency of the drive. Moreover, in this latter case, the lifetime of the time-crystalline order matches with t_* , consistent with the intuition that Floquet heating ultimately melts the PDTC at late times.

An intriguing open question is whether this melting can be delayed or fully arrested by coupling the system to a cold bath (Else *et al.*, 2017). More broadly, the stability and rigidity of many-body time crystalline order in dissipative, open quantum systems [Fig. 8(c)] remains an active area of exploration (Booker *et al.*, 2020; Buča and Jaksch, 2019; Buča *et al.*, 2019; Chinzei and Ikeda, 2020; Dogra *et al.*, 2019; Gambetta *et al.*, 2019b; Gong *et al.*, 2018; Iemini *et al.*, 2018; Keßler *et al.*, 2020, 2019; Keßler *et al.*, 2021; Kongkhambut *et al.*, 2022; Lazarides *et al.*, 2020; Lledó *et al.*, 2019; Lledó and Szymańska, 2020; Seibold *et al.*, 2020; Tucker *et al.*, 2018; Zhu *et al.*, 2019). We return to it in Section V.

E. Periodically driven Bose-Einstein Condensates

Long-lived subharmonic responses have been explored extensively in driven Bose Einstein condensates (BEC) without disorder (Autti et al., 2018, 2021; Giergiel et al., 2020; Hannaford, 2022; Kongkhambut et al., 2022; Liao et al., 2019; Sacha, 2015, 2020; Smits et al., 2020, 2021, 2018; Wang et al., 2021b). A paradigmatic example is provided by a BEC bouncing off an oscillating mirror (Flatté and Holthaus, 1996; Sacha, 2015). Let us try to understand this scenario by considering a particle under the influence of gravity which bounces off an oscillating mirror [Fig. 8(a)]. In the reference frame of the mirror (in which the mirror is held constant at z = 0), the particle's gravitational potential energy is given by $U(z) = m(q + a\cos(\omega_D t))z$, with the position of the particle at z > 0. Classically, a single particle in this potential exhibits a 2:1 subharmonic response which is conceptually equivalent to that of the driven non-linear pendulum discussed in Sec. III.B (Flatté and Holthaus, 1996). In the quantum case, this leads to two "nonspreading wavepackets" localized to the double-minima of the effective Floquet Hamiltonian, corresponding to



FIG. 7 Prethermal discrete time crystal in a disorder-free chain of $L = 25^{171} \text{Yb}^+$ ions. (a) For initial states whose energy density (measured with respect to H_{eff}) lies in the trivial phase of the effective Hamiltonian (top panel), the dynamics of the magnetization is largely independent of the drive frequency and quickly equilibrates to zero. Despite the rapid decay of the magnetization, the energy density exhibits slow Floquet heating. For initial states whose energy density lies in the symmetry-broken phase of $H_{\rm eff}$ (bottom panel), the stroboscopic dynamics of the magnetization exhibit subharmonic oscillations (solid curves correspond to even periods while dashed curves correspond to odd periods), whose lifetime extends with increasing frequency. The lifetime of this prethermal time crystalline order is consistent with being cutoff by the slow Floquet heating time-scale. (b) Experimentally measured phase diagram of a prethermal discrete time crystal as a function of the energy density of the initial state. States near the edge of the spectrum (i.e. which order with respect to $H_{\rm eff}$) exhibit PDTC order while states in the trivial phase of $H_{\rm eff}$ do not exhibit prethermal time crystalline order. Figures adapted from (Kyprianidis et al., 2021).

the two period-doubled orbits (Bialynicki-Birula et al., 1994; Buchleitner and Delande, 1995; Buchleitner et al., 2002; Flatté and Holthaus, 1996). However, in contrast to the classical case, quantum tunneling between the two minima results in a finite lifetime, τ , for the subharmonic oscillations. From the spectral perspective [Sec. III.B.3], this manifests as two Floquet eigenstates, $|\psi_1\rangle$ and $|\psi_2\rangle$, whose relative Floquet eigenvalues are perturbed away from $\pi \to \pi + 1/\tau$. Intuitively, these two Floquet eigenstates correspond to the "bonding" and "anti-bonding" configurations of the effective double-well potential. When $\tau \to \infty$, the configurations $|\psi_{\pm}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|\psi_1\rangle \pm |\psi_2\rangle)$ are exchanged under each period, and a system prepared with a majority amplitude in one or the other will thus exhibit $S\tau B$. But with tunneling, these configurations slowly precess into each other over the tunneling time τ , restoring the symmetry (Buchleitner et al., 2002; Flatté and Holthaus, 1996; Holthaus, 1995; Holthaus and Flatté, 1994; Sacha, 2015).

However, τ can be radically extended by replacing a single particle with an *N*-particle Bose-Einstein condensate with an attractive contact interaction $H_{\text{int}} = -\frac{g_0}{4}|\Psi(z)|^4$ (Sacha, 2015). In appropriate units, the Hamiltonian for the field operator $\hat{\Psi}$ is given by

$$\hat{H} = \int_{0}^{\infty} dz \left[\hat{\Psi}^{\dagger}(z) \left(-\frac{1}{2} \partial_{z}^{2} + (1 + \frac{a}{g} \cos(\omega_{D} t)) |z| \right) \hat{\Psi}(z) - \frac{g_{0}}{4} |\hat{\Psi}(z)|^{4} \right].$$
(17)

Two approximations can be used to analyze the resulting dynamics (Sacha, 2015): (i) taking $N \to \infty$ while holding $g_0 N$ fixed, the dynamics reduce to a periodically driven Gross-Pitaevskii equation (GPE). The GPE is a classical Hamiltonian field theory over a complex field $\psi(t, z)$, and can therefore be efficiently simulated; (ii) one can project the interacting dynamics onto the two nearly-degenerate ground states (i.e. the aforementioned double-minima) of the single particle Floquet Hamiltonian, effectively reducing the problem to two bosonic modes.

These approximations can be combined into three cases. When both approximations are made (i.e. taking $N \to \infty$ and also projecting to the two-mode picture), the dynamics exhibit a bifurcation transition that produces period-doubling (Sacha, 2015). Intuitively, due to the attractive interaction, the Floquet energy is minimized when all particles inhabit the same well; tunneling between the wells is thereby suppressed because all $N \to \infty$ bosons must tunnel sequentially.

If one only considers the second approximation (i.e. finite N within the two mode picture), quantum fluctuations in the mode occupation remain, and it was shown that the tunneling time increases exponentially with N, $\tau \propto e^{\alpha N}$ (Sacha, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2021b). Thus, TTSB is achieved not in the limit of large system size, but rather in the limit of large particle number. However,



FIG. 8 (a) Schematic depicting N atoms bouncing off an oscillating mirror (Sacha, 2015). (b) Numerical simulations of the scenario in (a) shows that the time evolution of the atomic density exhibits $S\tau B$. At each time shown, the positions of 10^2 atoms (out of 10^4) are measured and a histogram of those positions is depicted. (c) A Bose-Einstein condensate in a transversely pumped high-finesse optical cavity can realize signatures of $S\tau B$ in an open system. In particular, the atom-cavity system can exhibit a period-doubled oscillation between distinct density wave patterns (Keßler *et al.*, 2021). Figures adapted from (Keßler *et al.*, 2021; Sacha, 2015; Sacha and Zakrzewski, 2017).

the two-mode approximation automatically prevents Floquet heating — which is generally presumed to occur in a driven many-body system — from occurring (D'Alessio and Rigol, 2014; Else *et al.*, 2020b; Khemani *et al.*, 2019).

Finally, if one only considers the first approximation (i.e. $N \to \infty$ but without taking the two-mode limit), $S\tau B$ effectively requires that the periodically driven Gross-Pitaevskii equation is non-ergodic [see e.g. Sec. III.C]. This is in contrast to the expectation that classical non-linear field theories are generically ergodic (the integrability of the isotropic, undriven GPE being a fine-tuned exception). However, this expectation may not apply to the present situation. Due to the gravitational confining potential, the dynamics are effectively confined to a zero-dimensional region near the minima of the double-well. This is in contrast to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation in an isotropic potential or an array of coupled pendula, which each have an *extensive* density of states.

So, while the number of degrees of freedom is formally infinite, it may be that the KAM theorem still applies because there are effectively only a few degrees of freedom that are resonant with the periodic drive. Thus, KAM might protect $S\tau B$ in this scenario as it does for a single particle in a double-well Floquet potential (Sec. III.B.4). Interestingly, in the absence of periodic driving, this is indeed the case; specifically, it has been proven that the undriven GPE in a double-well potential breaks ergodicity. Below a critical energy, a condensate becomes "selftrapped" in one of the minima (Albiez *et al.*, 2005; Jackson and Weinstein, 2004). It is perhaps then plausible that the driven GPE can exhibit the same phenomena, but in the rotating frame of the 2:1 resonance [Fig. 8(b)]. Numerical simulations of the driven GPE support this interpretation (Kuroś *et al.*, 2020; Sacha, 2015).

Finally, there is of course the question of what occurs when one makes neither of the two aforementioned approximations. Exact answers are difficult to obtain in this regime, as it is a full quantum many-body problem, but numerical results have been obtained within time-dependent Bogoliubov theory (Kuroś *et al.*, 2020) and the truncated Wigner approximation (Wang *et al.*, 2021a). Both conclude that out to thousands of driving periods, the boson population remains almost entirely within the two modes, with no evidence for heating.

These findings support the conclusion of the two-mode approximation (with finite N), where $\tau \propto e^{\alpha N}$. Of course such numerical simulations cannot definitively rule out exponentially slow depopulation and heating (Sec. IV.D), as might occur in a prethermal time-crystal (Else *et al.*, 2017; Machado *et al.*, 2019; Sacha, 2020). However, if one accepts the conclusion that as $N \to \infty$, the GPE can generically break ergodicity in this setting (as it does in a *static* double well potential), the possibility that Floquet heating is absent out to infinite times even for the driven GPE, seems like a possibility (albeit, still quite surprising).

Finally we comment on the contention that timecrystals in driven BECs are "effectively few-body" (Khemani *et al.*, 2019). This is partly a matter of nomenclature. On the one hand, these systems are clearly not few-body as the interaction, g_0 , and the limit $N \to \infty$ are necessary for $S\tau B$. Furthermore, while not rigorously proven (much like Floquet MBL is also not rigorously proven), the authors of this Colloquium find it plausible that $S\tau B$ could be stable up to times, $\tau \propto e^{\alpha N}$, even when the physics is treated as a full many-body problem. Again, much like the situation with MBL, this "plausibility" is bolstered by the fact that the undriven GPE in a double-well potential does, in fact, break ergodicity.

On the other hand, it seems that $S\tau B$ is only stable because of the reduced dimensionality induced by the gravitational confinement, which effectively ensures the accuracy of the two-mode approximation; no such picture would be obtainable for the MBL setting (Sec. IV.B). We venture that a more useful distinction is the nature of the thermodynamic limit being taken. In the case of MBL time-crystals (or the driven, open time-crystals of Sec. V), true $S\tau B$ is achieved in the thermodynamic limit $L \to \infty$, with $\tau \sim e^{L/\xi}$, keeping intensive quantities fixed. In the case of the driven BEC, due to the confining gravitational potential, the system size L is not relevant (in this sense the problem is zero dimensional) and the problem reduces to being effectively few-mode, even though the physics is realized in a full, many-body system. In this setting, $S\tau B$ is recovered in the limit $N \to \infty$, keeping $g_0 N$ fixed, with $\tau \sim e^{\alpha N}$.

An intriguing probe of this distinction would be to consider a 2D generalization of the driven BEC: bosons are gravitationally confined in the z direction, but propagate freely along x. In this case, the density of states is extensive in x, and domain walls between the two period-doubled orbits can form. It is natural to suppose that $S\tau B$ is prethermal in this case, as could be evaluated in the $N \to \infty$ limit using the 2D GPE.

V. OPEN, PERIODICALLY-DRIVEN SYSTEMS AND STOCHASTIC DYNAMICS

Our discussion thus far has focused on closed systems in which the dynamics are deterministic, $x \to \Phi(x)$. However, when a system is coupled to an environment, it is often fruitful to model the effect of the environment's chaotic motion as noise (most-conveniently taken to be Markovian), so that the dynamics become effectively stochastic. Rather than focusing on a particular microstate, one instead considers a probability distribution over microstates $\rho(x,t)$ which evolves under a "master equation," for example the Fokker-Planck equation. Integrating the master equation over one Floquet cycle then produces a discrete update of the distribution, $\rho(x, t+T) = \Phi[\rho(x, t)]$. In classical mechanics this results in a probability distribution over canonical coordinates $\rho(x = \{p, q\}, t)$ which evolves under a Markov process, $\rho(x', t+T) = \int \Phi(x'|x)\rho(x,t)dx$, where $\Phi(x'|x)$ are the Markov transition probabilities. In the quantum case, we have a density matrix $\hat{\rho}(t)$ which evolves under a "quantum channel" $\hat{\rho} \to \Phi[\hat{\rho}]$. One can also in principle consider non-Markovian baths, a point to which we will return.

The definition of $S\tau B$ given in Eq. (3) generalizes to the open case by measuring the local observable, O, in expectation, and stability can be defined by requiring $S\tau B$ be robust to perturbations of the stochastic dynamics subject to locality and any other dynamical constraints one is interested in [Fig. 8(c)]. The environment is both good and bad for $S\tau B$. On the one hand, coupling to an environment introduces friction: the energy and entropy produced by the periodic drive can now be absorbed by the bath, which can prevent the long-time Floquet heating which would otherwise destroy $S\tau B$ in the absence of MBL. This tends to help stabilize spontaneous time translation symmetry breaking. On the other hand, if the environment is at finite temperature, the inevitable noise which results may occasionally conspire to cause phase slips in the period-doubled motion. Roughly speaking, if noise nucleates phase slips at rate $1/\tau$, the $S\tau B$ has a finite auto-correlation time τ and there is no



FIG. 9 Arnold tongues of the damped Matthieu equation. The x-axis is the drive frequency expressed via the dimensionless ratio $a = (2\omega_0)^2/\omega_D^2$, while the y-axis is the drive amplitude δ . Contours indicate the critical drive amplitude required for resonance when the coefficient of friction takes a given value c. When c > 0, the period-double solution onsets only at finite δ . Figure adapted from Pedersen, 1980.

true long-range order. The interplay of a periodic drive, interactions, dissipation, and noise results in a truly nonequilibrium situation which is exceptionally rich – just like the world around us (Booker *et al.*, 2020; Buča and Jaksch, 2019; Buča *et al.*, 2019; Chinzei and Ikeda, 2020; Dogra *et al.*, 2019; Gambetta *et al.*, 2019b; Gong *et al.*, 2018; Iemini *et al.*, 2018; Keßler *et al.*, 2020, 2019; Keßler *et al.*, 2021; Kongkhambut *et al.*, 2022; Lazarides *et al.*, 2020; Lledó *et al.*, 2019; Lledó and Szymańska, 2020; Reichhardt *et al.*, 2022; Seibold *et al.*, 2020; Tucker *et al.*, 2018; Zhu *et al.*, 2019).

A. "Activated" time-crystals

A classical realization of this interplay is given by Langevin dynamics. Due to the coupling with the environment, each degree of freedom (q, p) experiences an additional Langevin force $F_L(t) = -\eta \dot{q} + f(t)$. Here η is the friction coefficient and f(t) is a white-noise stochastic force with auto-correlation function $\langle f(t)f(t')\rangle =$ $2\eta T\delta(t-t')$, where T is the temperature of the bath. The total force is obtained by adding F_L to the timedependent Hamilton's equations, $\dot{p} = -\partial_q H(t) + F_L(t)$. This leads to a master equation – the Fokker-Planck equation – of the general form $\partial_t \rho(\{p,q\},t) = \mathcal{L}[\rho]$, where \mathcal{L} is the Fokker-Planck operator. Integrating the Fokker-Planck equation over one Floquet cycle of the the drive then gives the discrete-time update $\rho(t+T) = \Phi[\rho(t)]$.

Note that we are assuming the environment remains in equilibrium at temperature T, and so instantaneously satisfies the fluctuation-dissipation theorem which relates the magnitude of the friction η and the noise $2\eta T$. If H(t)were time-independent, this would ensure (via detailedbalance) that the system relaxes to the canonical ensemble at long-times where $S\tau B$ is forbidden (Bruno, 2013; Nozières, 2013; Watanabe and Oshikawa, 2015). But



FIG. 10 Domain walls between different period-doubled solutions of the parametrically driven 1D Frenkel-Kontorova model (Eq.(12)) in contact with a finite-temperature Langevin bath. Colors indicate the amplitude of the *j*-th oscillator observed at even stroboscopic times $q_j(t = 2nT)$, with time running vertically. Inset, the oscillations at stroboscopic times $q_j(nT)$, which reveal the period doubling. Figure adapted from (Yao *et al.*, 2020).

when H(t) is periodically driven, this need not be the case: a non-equilibrium steady state can develop in which energy and entropy flows from the drive to the bath via the system.

We can now return to the question of period-doubling in open classical many-body systems such as the Faradaywave instability and coupled pendula (see e.g. earlier discussions surrounding Eq. (12) and Sec. III.A). For small oscillations and weak damping, the friction results in a *damped* Mathieu equation of the general form $\ddot{q}_k = -\left[\omega_k^2 + \delta_k \cos(\omega_D t)\right] q_k - \gamma_k \dot{q}_k$. The sub-harmonic responses of this model have been studied extensively (Hayashi, 1953; Pedersen, 1980, 1935; Taylor and Narendra, 1969). As shown in Fig. 9, for $\gamma_k > 0$ the subharmonic response acquires a finite threshold value for the drive amplitude δ_k , and modes outside the resonance tongues are damped. Absent noise, $S\tau B$ is then realized as a sharp many-body bifurcation transition as some combination of driving frequency, amplitude or damping strength is tuned into the 2:1 parametric resonance of a kmode. For strongly viscous Faraday waves, the equations of motion are somewhat more complex, but the conclusion are similar (Edwards and Fauve, 1994; Kumar and Tuckerman, 1994).

However, noise (i.e. finite temperatures, T > 0) induces fluctuations between the different cycles of the $S\tau B$, leading to a finite auto-correlation time. Recall from our discussion of prethermal systems (Sec. III.B.1 and Sec. IV.D) that we may transform to a rotating frame $\mathcal{K}(t)$: $H(q, p, t) \to H(P, Q, t) = H_{\text{eff}}(Q, P) + V(t)$ in which the driving V(t) is weak. For a single pendulum (Eq. 6), H_{eff} takes the form of a double-well potential. The noise will then lead to activated hopping between the minima at rate $1/\tau = e^{-\Delta/k_B T}$, where Δ is the quasienergy barrier between the two minima. Thus, at finite temperature, a single pendulum is no longer a true timecrystal, but rather an "activated" time-crystal in which the autocorrelation time of the $S\tau B$ diverges exponentially with temperature.

The problem is richer when coupling the pendula into an array, where H_{eff} approximately takes the form of an Ising model (recall Sec. III.B.4 for e.g. the definition of P_*),

$$H_{\text{eff}} \approx \sum_{i} \left[\frac{(P_i - P_*)^2}{2} + a \cos(2Q_i) \right] + \frac{\tilde{g}}{2} \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle} (Q_i - Q_j)^2,$$
(18)

where the parameters a depends on $\{\delta, \epsilon, \omega_D/\omega_0\}$ (from Eq. 12) and \tilde{g} is the transformed coupling strength.

The low quasi-energy configurations are then localized *domain walls* between the different period-*m* orbits. These domain walls are easily observed when numerically simulating a 1D coupled array of pendula [Eq. (18)] in the presence of the Langevin noise, as shown in Fig. 10. Indeed, one observes a gas of domain walls undergoing Brownian motion due to the noise, occasionally nucleating or annihilating in pairs. (Yao et al., 2020) studied the motion of these domain walls in detail and found that it leads to a decay in the $S\tau B$ autocorrelation function, $\langle q_i(t=nT)q_i(t=0)\rangle \sim (-1)^n e^{-t/\tau}$. The decay rate τ is proportional to the density of domain walls, which is in turn related to the temperature of the bath through an Arrhenius law, $\tau \sim e^{\Delta/k_B T}$, where Δ is now the quasienergy activation barrier required to nucleate a domain wall.

(Yao *et al.*, 2020) found numerically that in 1D, collective effects can cause the barrier Δ to drop discontinuously as the parameters (e.g. δ or ω_D) are varied, indicating a non-equilibrium phase transition at which $S\tau B$ is completely destroyed. Without careful examination of the temperature dependence at low T, this transition might easily be mistaken as evidence for the existence of a "true" $S\tau B$ phase ensconced within a non-equilibrium phase transition, while in reality the low temperature behavior is always activated.

Naively, the existence of a finite critical temperature, T_c , for equilibrium Ising symmetry breaking in dimensions two and greater suggests that the S τ B domain walls cannot proliferate for $T < T_c$, which would thereby stabilize time crystalline order to infinite times. However, in the damped system this is *not* correct. To see why, (Yao *et al.*, 2020) evaluated the effect of the Langevin force in the rotating frame and found two contributions. First, the $\{Q, P\}$ experience a Langevin force at the same temperature T, which locally equilibriates $H_{\rm eff}$, explaining the activated processes discussed above. Second, the effective Hamiltonian acquires a new contribution from the friction η , of the form $\sum_i \eta P_*Q_i$. Its physical origin is that in the rotating frame, P encodes the amplitude of the oscillation (cf. Eq. (7)), and because the friction prefers to damp the amplitude, this equates to a net force on Q. The net potential, $V \approx a \cos(2Q) + \eta P_*Q$, then biases Q to "roll downhill", which following Eq. (7), would unlock the response from $\omega_D/2$. The bias leads to a net force on the domain walls which causes nucleated islands to grow (Yao et al., 2020), even though both sides of the domain wall are related by the \mathbb{Z}_2 time-translation symmetry. This net force destroys the possibility of phase coexistence. Thus, even in 2D and greater, the timecrystalline response in this and similar models still exhibits an activated auto-correlation time. Intriguingly, a closely related effect has been studied in the context of probabilistic cellular automata, (Bennett *et al.*, 1990) which are introduced in Sec. V.D.

As $\eta \to 0$, the magnitude of the aforementioned force goes to zero and the density of domain walls can then undergo a transition analogous to the equilibrium Ising transition. However, once $\eta \to 0$, one needs to again worry about heating from the residual time-dependent part of the drive (this is precisely related to the prethermal situation discussed in Sec. IV.D).

In summary, the existence of $H_{\rm eff}$ provides a unifying framework for three regimes of time-crystalline behavior: in the closed cased ($\eta = T = 0$), one has the prethermal scenario where heating destroys $S\tau B$ after an exponentially long time $\tau \sim e^{\omega_D/J}$; in the open case ($\eta > 0, T > 0$), the environment nucleates domain walls which destroy the $S\tau B$ on an exponentially activated time-scale $\tau \sim e^{\Delta/k_B T}$, where Δ is a quasi-energy barrier; and finally for the purely dissipative case $\eta > 0, T = 0$, there is true $S\tau B$ conceptually analogous to that of the coupled map lattice (Sec. II.A).

B. Experimental realizations of activated time-crystals: pendula, AC-driven charge density waves, and fractional Shapiro steps

Several experiments on open many-body systems have observed subharmonic responses which may be interpreted within the framework of activated $S\tau B$. One obvious example is a shaken pendulum treated as a macroscopic object of ~ 10^{23} particles. The coupled oscillator array of Eq. (12), for example, can be understood as a macroscopic pendulum composed of atoms, q_i , when accounting only for its 1D width. The effect of noise on such systems is of practical interest; for example parametric resonance of a mesoscopic mechanical oscillator such as an AFM tip (Rugar and Grütter, 1991) is a standard tool for mass and force sensing. In perfect isolation, driving will generate stresses on the oscillator, causing the phonon modes $(q_{k\neq 0})$ to absorb a portion of the driving power, heating up the system and (at long times) melting the oscillator. This is the prethermal scenario, though some work remains to rigorously prove there is a regime in which the time-scale increases exponentially (Mori, 2018; Ye et al., 2021). Contact with a bath (e.g., air at T = 293K) prevents the oscillator from melting, and it is helpful to estimate the resulting activation time. In particular, the nucleation of a "domain wall" corresponds to ripping the oscillator in half, an energy scale so many orders of magnitude above T = 293K, that the time-scale is inconceivable. However, collisions with an unlikely conspiracy of air molecules can also cause the entire oscillator to collectively hop between the two quasi-energy minima; using Eq. (12), one can estimate the quasi-energy barrier for such a fluctuation as $\Delta \sim 2\delta(2 - \omega_D/\omega_0)$.

At scales of kilograms, meters, and room-temperature, $\Delta/k_{\rm B}T$ again results in an inconceivably long time-scale. However, for mesoscopic resonators it can be highly relevant. An application of this effect is found in nanoscale mass sensing based on parametric oscillation of an AFM tip. In order to weigh an object attached to the tip, one detects the sharp jump in the amplitude of oscillations as the detuning $2 - \omega_D/\omega_0$ is driven near parametric resonance; the precise location of the jump is highly sensitive to the total mass. However, finite-*T* noise rounds out the transition into a non-linear crossover, an effect which is experimentally observable and limits the practical resolution of parametric-resonance-based sensing (Prakash *et al.*, 2012; Zhang and Turner, 2004).

Two more intrinsically mesoscopic examples, which can be recast in the language of activated time-crystalline order, are AC-driven charge density waves (CDW) and fractional Shapiro steps in Josephson junction arrays. Both have received tremendous experimental attention; since the two systems are conceptually equivalent (Bohr *et al.*, 1984; MacDonald and Plischke, 1983), we will largely focus on the former. In a charge density wave material such as NbSe₃ (Grüner, 1988), the electron density spontaneously develops a charge density modulation at twice the Fermi wavevector, $n(x) \sim n_0 \cos(2k_F x + \theta(x))$, where θ is the slowly varying phase of the CDW. Treating θ as a single macroscopic degree of freedom, one obtains a phenomenological equation of motion given by (Grüner *et al.*, 1981):

$$\ddot{\theta} + (\omega_0 \tau)^{-1} \dot{\theta} + \sin \theta = E(t)/E_T \tag{19}$$

where $\sin \theta$ accounts for the potential that pins the CDW, $\omega_0 \tau$ is a relaxation time (note that time is rescaled by the natural oscillation frequency ω_0) due to dissipation from the material, E(t) is the applied bias, and E_T is the threshold bias for transport. This is the equation of motion for a damped and driven pendulum. When E(t)is larger than the threshold E_T , the system enters into a sliding state with $\langle \partial_t \theta \rangle \neq 0$, generating a finite current.



FIG. 11 Differential resistance measurements, dV/dI, in the charge density wave system NbSe₃. A bias voltage $V(t) = V_{\rm dc} + V_{\rm rf} \cos(\omega_D t)$ is applied, and the DC component of the resistance $dV_{\rm dc}/dI_{\rm dc}$ is measured, holding $V_{\rm rf}$ and ω_D fixed. Sharp peaks in the resistance correspond to plateaus in the *I-V* curve. The location of these peaks can be attributed to a motion of the CDW in which it shifts by p/q wavevectors per driving period, resulting in a subharmonic response between the AC components of the voltage and current. In the absence of the AC drive (panel b), the subharmonic response is absent. Figure adapted from (Brown *et al.*, 1984).

In the experiments of interest, a bias is applied with both DC and AC components, $E(t) = E_{dc} + E_{ac} \cos(\omega_D t)$. In the sliding state, the motion of the CDW over the periodic pinning potential defines a frequency scale $\omega_{dc} \equiv \langle \dot{\theta} \rangle \approx \omega_0 \tau \frac{E_{dc}}{E_T}$. When $\omega_{dc} = \frac{p}{q} \omega_D$, commensuration effects allow the AC-oscillations to assist the motion of θ over the potential. Since the current I_{dc} is proportional to ω_{dc} , commensuration can lead to a plateau in I_{dc} whenever $\omega_{dc} \approx \frac{p}{q} \omega_D$. This leads to the emergence of a "devil's staircase" of plateaus (Brown *et al.*, 1984; Hundley and Zettl, 1989; Thorne *et al.*, 1987b; Zettl and Grüner, 1983) in the *I-V* curve as E_{dc} is swept at fixed E_{ac} (see Fig. 11 which depicts dV/dI versus the voltage V).

Most notably, for $q \neq 1$ (see for example the prominent peak in Fig. 11 for p/q = 1/2), the response is subharmonic: the CDW shifts by 1/q of a wavelength with each period of the AC-drive.

While Eq. (19) treats θ as single macroscopic variable, in the experiment there are spatial fluctuations which can be accounted for by considering a 2D or 3D array of $\theta(\mathbf{r})$ coupled through an elastic stiffness. (Middleton *et al.*, 1992) showed theoretically that the subharmonic response remains robust in this many-body setting. In fact, in the overdamped regime with a purely sinusoidal pinning potential, subharmonic responses are *only* found when treating the problem as many-body one.

The phenomenological equation of motion [Eq. (19)], which predicts perfect $S\tau B$, also neglects the effect of thermal fluctuations that are of course present in experiments such as Fig. (11). As discussed in (Thorne et al., 1987a,b), a careful examination of the experimental I-Vcurves reveals that some (but not all) of the subharmonic plateaus are rounded-out in a sample dependent fashion. Complementary to this, the spectral distribution $I(\omega)$ (or $V(\omega)$ in current biased mode) shows peaks at $\omega = \frac{p}{a}\omega_D$ with finite width, rather than perfect Bragg peaks. This broadening is attributed to a distribution of velocities $\partial_t \theta$ throughout the sample, which, in the language of time-crystalline order, implies the absence of perfect $S\tau B$. Indeed, numerical simulations of driven 1D CDWs confirm that finite temperature broadens the plateaus (Mali et al., 2012). Unfortunately, owing to thermal gradients generated due to Ohmic heating, AC-driven CDWs do not appear to be particularly well suited for quantitatively investigating the temperature dependence of the broadening at low T (see e.g. discussions in Sec. V.A).

Mathematically equivalent physics is found in the AC Josephson effect (recall related discussions in Sec. I). In the McCumber model (McCumber, 1968) for a resistively and capacitively shunted Josephson junction (RCSJ), the superconducting phase difference ϕ across a Josephson junction obeys the equation of motion

$$\omega_p^{-2}\ddot{\phi} + \omega_c^{-1}\dot{\phi} + \sin\phi = I(t)/I_c \tag{20}$$

where $\omega_p \equiv \sqrt{2I_c/C}$, $\omega_c \equiv 2I_c R_N$, and $V/R_N = \dot{\phi}/2R_N$ is the normal current across the junction; here, C is the capacitance, I is the current across the Josephson junction, I_c is the current, and R_N is the normal resistance. The situation considered in Sec. I occurs in experiments in which the junction is under-damped. The DC current is carried entirely by normal quasiparticles, $I_{DC} = I_n$, satisfying $I_{DC}/I_c = \omega_c^{-1} \dot{\phi}$ or, simply, $I_{DC} = V/R_N$. An AC supercurrent flows in response to the voltage drop across the junction, $I_{AC}(t)/I_c = \sin(2I_{DC}R_N t)$. However, in this under-damped regime, the I - V curve is hysteretic, and there is a branch in which the voltage drop across the junction is zero so long as the DC current is less than the critical current: $I_{DC} = I_c \sin \phi$. This vertical step in the I_V curve is followed by a plateau at $I = I_c$ from V = 0 to $V = I_c R_N$ where it rejoins the other branch.

Returning to the general case of Eq. (20), we note that this equation of motion is formally equivalent to the CDW [Eq. (19)], and by analogy one also expects steps in the *I-V* curve when the AC component of the current, $I(t) = I_{\rm dc} + I_{\rm ac} \cos(\omega_D t)$, is commensurate with rational harmonics of the DC voltage, $\omega_J = \langle \dot{\phi} \rangle = 2eV_{\rm dc}$. (The vertical step in the superconducting branch of the hysteretic I - V curve in the underdamped case is a trivial version of such a step.) These "Shapiro steps" were first observed at integer harmonics in single Josephson junctions (Shapiro, 1963). Later experiments (Benz *et al.*, 1990; Lee *et al.*, 1991) on arrays of Josephson junctions revealed subharmonic Shapiro steps.

C. Ergodicity in open systems

At time scales $t > e^{\Delta/k_B T}$, an activated time crystal loses memory of the initial condition which distinguishes between the *m*-cycles of the S τ B oscillation: its dynamics are ultimately ergodic. Earlier in this Colloquium, ergodicity was introduced as a property of a measurepreserving deterministic system. The precise definition works differently in the stochastic case, but intuitively, still captures whether a system inevitably "forgets" its initial condition. We direct the interested reader to (Gielis and MacKay, 2000; Gray, 2001) for a discussion of the technical aspects required to make the definitions precise in the thermodynamic limit.

In the stochastic setting, a probability distribution ρ_s is an "invariant measure" of the dynamics if it is a fixed point of the stochastic update, $\Phi[\rho_s] = \rho_s$, i.e. it is a steady-state distribution. A stochastic system is said to be ergodic if two properties hold: (1) the dynamics have a *unique* steady state ρ_s and (2) the long-time behavior of any initial state relaxes to this steady state, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \rho(t) = \rho_s$. As in the closed, deterministic case, $S\tau B$ in the sense of Eq. (3) requires that Φ is non-ergodic. Otherwise, at long times, the *m*-possible orbits become indistinguishable and any oscillations will decay.

Instead, a S τ B phase will exhibit so-called "asymptotic periodicity" (Lasota *et al.*, 1984; Losson and Mackey, 1996). At long times the distribution relaxes to a convex combination of *m* locally-distinguishable distributions ρ_p , $\rho(t) \rightarrow \sum_{p=1}^m \alpha_p \rho_{p+t}$ which are cyclically permuted under the evolution $\Phi[\rho_p] = \rho_{p+1}$ (with $\rho_{p+m} = \rho_p$). While $\rho_s = \frac{1}{m} \sum_p \rho_p$ is a unique steady state, in the generic case where the α_p are unequal $\rho(t)$ will continue to oscillate so that the limit $\lim_{t\to\infty} \rho(t) = \rho_s$ fails to exist ³.

The existence of true $S\tau B$ in open dynamical systems thus hinges on a far more fundamental question: can a locally interacting stochastic system *generically* break

³ In a deterministic system, "ergodicity" governs the invariance of Cesáro sums, $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{t=1}^{\tau} O(\Phi^{(t)}(x))$. In this case, $S\tau B$ implies that the *m*-fold iterated map $\Phi^{(m)}$ is not ergodic, but the map Φ itself generally *is* ergodic (though it is not mixing). In the stochastic case, however, ergodicity is usually defined to imply the stronger form of convergence $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} = \rho_s$, rather than $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{t=1}^{\tau} \Phi^{(t)}[\rho_0] = \rho_s$. By this definition, Φ *itself* is non-ergodic. While the steady state $\rho_s = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{p=1}^{m} \rho_p$ is unique, and one has $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \sum_{t=1}^{\tau} \Phi^{(t)}[\rho_0] = \rho_s$, the limit $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \rho(t)$ does not exist.

ergodicity? This line of questioning has a deep history in the fields of non-linear dynamics, mathematical physics, and computer science. The answer is intimately related to the stability of *phase coexistence* and *phase transitions* in stochastic systems ().

We can illustrate the ideas at play by stripping away the complexity of Hamiltonian dynamics and instead considering a classical spin system. For specificity we start in equilibrium with a classical Ising model $H_{I}[\{\sigma\}]$. While $H_{\rm I}$ itself does not define any dynamics, we may define a "kinetic Ising model," such as Glauber or Hasting-Metropolis rules, which update the spin configuration $\sigma \rightarrow \sigma'$ according to a local conditional probability $\Phi(\sigma'|\sigma)$ which obeys detailed balance with respect to $H_{\rm I}$. Detailed balance ensures that the distribution $\rho_s =$ $e^{-\beta H}/Z$ is a steady state. On a *finite* system at T > 0, standard results guarantee that ρ_s is the unique steady state with a finite relaxation time, so the process is ergodic (Feller, 1957). However, the thermodynamic limit leads to richer possibilities. When h = 0 and T is below the critical Ising temperature (e.g., when tuned to a first-order phase transition), the phase coexistence of the two magnetized phases implies the existence of two steady states, $\rho(\sigma)_{+} = \rho(-\sigma)_{-}$, and the dynamics are not ergodic. However, for any finite h phase coexistence is lost and the steady state is unique. This illustrates a general principle in equilibrium: ergodicity-breaking requires tuning one or more parameters to a first-order phase transition, and in this sense is fine-tuned (or requires a symmetry beyond time-translation invariance).

We note that one route around this equilibrium nogo is to consider a spin Hamiltonian with multi-body interactions (Kozin and Kyriienko, 2019) or power-law interaction of sufficiently slow fall-off, so that the energy penalty for domain walls can be made to grow faster than the extensive energy of the symmetry-breaking external field (Liggett, 2012). Or, taking this to the extreme, by considering models with all-to-all couplings in the spirit of a mean-field Hamiltonian, so that locality is lost entirely (Lyu et al., 2020; Morita and Kaneko, 2006; Pizzi et al., 2021b; Russomanno et al., 2017; Yang and Cai, 2021). However, such models are not local in the usual sense: their thermodynamic properties are not extensive in system size, among other anomalies. So, while such models can be used as the basis for stabilizing even continuous $S\tau B$, the starting point is rather different than the usual notion of locality implied in the classification of phases.

D. Probabilistic cellular automata

Moving beyond equilibrium, one can consider more general local Markov updates $\Phi(\sigma'|\sigma)$ of a discrete spin system without reference to any particular H. Such models are a type of *probabilistic cellular automata*

(PCA)(Dobrušin *et al.*, 1990); the continuous-time generalization of PCAs are dubbed "interacting particle systems" (Liggett, 2012). One particularly convenient way to obtain a PCA is to start with a deterministic cellular automata (CA) (Gutowitz, 1991) defined by a local update rule $\sigma \to \Phi_{CA}(\sigma)$, and then follow each CA update with random spin flips at an "error rate" ε . For Markovian errors we then obtain a Markov process which is a perturbation of the deterministic CA, $\Phi = \Phi_{\varepsilon} \circ \Phi_{CA}$ (we note that mathematical results on PCA are even more general, allowing for non-Markovian errors). Such models have been of interest to the theoretical computer science community because CA are Turing complete, so the study of the possible generic behaviors of a PCA have implications for the generic behaviors obtainable by a classical computer perturbed by errors: e.g. Can reliable systems emerge from unreliable components (Von Neumann, 1952)? For a review of these connections between theoretical computer science and more familiar notions in non-equilibrium statistical physics, we refer the interested reader to (Gray, 2001).

From the perspective of time crystals, the relevant question becomes the following: Do there exist CA which remain non-ergodic for *generic* small perturbations Φ_{ε} ? And if so, might such a CA be the basis for spontaneous time translation symmetry breaking? These questions were answered in the affirmative in (Toom, 1980) and (Bennett et al., 1990) Before diving into the first question, we can sketch Bennett's answer to the second. Suppose there does exist a local, non-ergodic CA $\Phi_{\rm CA}$ with *m*-distinct steady states. For the simplicity of discussion, we further assume that these states are exchanged by a \mathbb{Z}_m symmetry, but (unlike a kinetic Ising or Potts model) we assume the non-ergodicity is stable to generic (possibly \mathbb{Z}_m breaking!) errors. We can then define a rotating version of the CA by composing Φ_{CA} with the action of \mathbb{Z}_m , $\Phi_{\frac{2\pi}{m}CA} \equiv G_{2\pi/m}\Phi_{CA}$. By construction, $\Phi_{CA}^m = \Phi_{\frac{2\pi}{m}CA}^m$; thus, if Φ_{CA} is proven to be stably non-ergodic, $\Phi_{\underline{2\pi}CA}^{\mu}$ inherits this property and by construction exhibits the "asymptotic periodicity" of a time-crystal, cycling through the m-fixed steady states of Φ_{CA} .

A particularly important point to emphasize is that (while convenient) it is *not* necessary to assume that Φ_{CA} exhibits a \mathbb{Z}_m symmetry for stability. Indeed, if the nonergodicity of Φ_{CA} is stable to \mathbb{Z}_m -breaking perturbations, one could just as well have started out with a perturbed version of Φ_{CA} which breaks the \mathbb{Z}_m symmetry. The construction thus satisfies the important conceptual requirement that $S\tau$ Bdoes not depend on any further internal symmetries.

Returning to the first question, the possibility of a local and generically non-ergodic PCA was a longstanding question for several decades (Dobrušin *et al.*, 1990; Lebowitz *et al.*, 1990; Toom, 1995) finally answered



FIG. 12 Phase diagram of the Toom model, adapted from (Bennett and Grinstein, 1985). After each CA update, spins randomly flip up or down with rate ε_p , ε_q respectively, with "bias" $(\varepsilon_p - \varepsilon_q)/(\varepsilon_p + \varepsilon_q)$ and "amplitude" $\varepsilon_p + \varepsilon_q$. Within the two-phase region, there are two distinct steady-state distributions and the dynamics are not ergodic. Unlike the Ising model, the system can thus "remember" one bit of information even in the presence of *biased* noise.

in the affirmative in the groundbreaking work of (Toom, 1980).

E. An absolutely stable open time-crystal: the $\pi\text{-}\mathrm{Toom}$ model

The Toom CA is a 2D binary spin model with a remarkably simple "north-east corner" (NEC) majority rule, defined as follows (Toom, 1980, 1974). At each step, each spin follows a majority vote amongst itself and its two north and east neighbors: $\sigma_{x,y}(t+1) =$ $\operatorname{maj}(\sigma_{x,y}, \sigma_{x+1,y}, \sigma_{x,y+1})$. This is a seemingly innocuous modification of the T = 0 nearest-neighbor kinetic Ising rule, in which each spin would follow a vote amongst its four {north, east, south, west} neighbors. Note, however, that due to the spatial asymmetry, the Toom rule *cannot* be understood as minimizing the energy of any Hamiltonian, and does not obey detailed balance (Grinstein et al., 1985). This asymmetry ensures that if an island of the minority spin nucleates, the NEC-rule will cause the island to shrink linearly in time from the NE-direction inward. This is far faster than the Ising model, where the thermodynamic force on a domain wall depends on its local curvature, and hence decays with the size of the island (Bennett and Grinstein, 1985).

The Toom PCA is then obtained by perturbing with biased errors in which, for example, spins flip up with error rate ε_p , and down with error rate ε_q . The bias $b = (\varepsilon_p - \varepsilon_q)/(\varepsilon_p + \varepsilon_q)$ breaks the Ising symmetry. Remarkably, there is nevertheless a finite volume in $\{\varepsilon_p, \varepsilon_q\}$ -space in which two magnetized steady states persist despite the bias that prefers one over the other (Fig. 12). Rigorous results prove that the ergodicity breaking is robust to essentially any sufficiently small perturbation — even a spatio-temporally correlated one, or a noise distribution which is not itself time-translation invariant (Berman and Simon, 1988; Gacs, 2021; Toom, 1980).

We note that this last point distinguishes the "absolute stability" of the open system π -Toom time crystal (to be defined in the next sentence) from its closed system counterparts (i.e. Sec. IV), where noise that breaks the underlying discrete time translation symmetry would immediately destroy the time crystal.

With Toom having done the difficult part, the π -Toom model is then defined as the *anti*-majority NEC rule $\sigma_{x,y}(t+1) = \operatorname{anti-maj}(\sigma_{x,y}, \sigma_{x+1,y}, \sigma_{x,y+1})$. The π -Toom model is a time-crystal, which is stable to arbitrary perturbations. Interestingly, the S τ B of the π -Toom, model was already pointed out over two decades ago in (Bennett *et al.*, 1990), and later in Gielis and MacKay, 2000, where it was referred to as an example of a "type-G phase transition."

While the original Toom model exhibits m = 2 steady states, and hence is the basis for period $m = 2 \text{ S}\tau\text{B}$, it generalizes to any m > 2 (Bennett *et al.*, 1990). Furthermore Toom-like models exist in all dimensions D > 1, simply by stacking the 2D version. In fact, an extension in D = 3 provides the basis for error-corrected classical computing (Gács and Reif, 1988). The existence of stable ergodicity breaking in 1D PCAs was only shown more recently by Gács, Gács, 2001. Taken together, PCAs support absolutely stable S τ B of any period $m \geq 2$ in all dimensions $D \geq 1$.

Is the full error-correcting capability of the Toom and Gács models really necessary for stable $S\tau B$? For example, in the construction $\Phi_{\frac{2\pi}{m}CA} \equiv G_{2\pi/m}\Phi_{CA}$ we may instead take Φ_{CA} to be the kinetic Ising model or its generalization to \mathbb{Z}_m . The ferromagnetic interactions of the Ising model are a mild form of error correction in that they cause minority islands to shrink due surface tension. However, (Bennett *et al.*, 1990) argued that this equilibrium form of error correction is insufficient for stabilizing $m > 2 \ S\tau B$.

The reason is that for m > 2, the chirality of the periodic evolution between steady states $n \rightarrow n+1$ mod m implies that there is no symmetry which forbids a stochastic force per unit length from acting on a domain wall between regions of n and n+1 - type steady states (e.g. favoring n to grow at the expense of n+1 $\mod m$). Such a force is thus generic, and will drive minority droplets to nucleate and grow. This force is counteracted by the surface tension of the ferromagnetism, which, however, decays with the local curvature. Thus the former force will always win out for sufficiently large droplets, causing minority droplets to proliferate and destroy $S\tau B$ at long times. The Toom model escapes this reasoning because its error-correction effectively exerts a force on domain walls which is independent of their curvature, and can thus shrink minority droplets of any size. (Bennett and Grinstein, 1985)

However, the m = 2 case is an exception because there is no handedness to the periodic evolution. Even if there is a force which favors (say) type n = 0 over n = 1, because the domains effectively switch type at each step, the net force on a domain wall averages to zero over one period, and islands can thus be shrunk via ferromagnetic surface tension (Bennett *et al.*, 1990). This implies the binary-spin π -Ising model can support $S\tau B$ below the Ising critical temperature, as was recently studied in detail (Gambetta *et al.*, 2019a).

It is interesting to contrast this discussion with the classical activated time crystal of Sec.V.A, which was *not* stable against the proliferation of minority islands even though m = 2. To see why, recall that the emergent Ising degree of freedom was effectively embedded into a larger continuous state space, e.g. $\sigma = \text{sgn}(\sin(Q))$. A domain wall between $\sigma = 1, -1$ could thus be of two types depending on whether Q wound clockwise or counterclockwise. Because this handedness is preserved under the oscillation $Q \rightarrow Q + \pi$, there is no symmetry which forbids a domain wall from experiencing a net force which does *not* average to zero over m = 2 periods, even while the identities of the domains themselves are exchanged.

Does this imply that if the binary-spin π -Ising model is embedded into a model with additional degrees of freedom, the S τ B may not be generically stable? Or instead, may there be a parameter regime of models like the Langevin-driven parametric oscillator arrays (12) which exhibit true, rather than activated S τ B? Only time will tell.

F. Open Hamiltonian and quantum dynamics

While we have discussed the existence of stable timecrystals in the stripped-down setting of a PCA (Sec. V.D. and Sec. V.E), our original microscopic starting point (Sec. V) was the periodically driven Langevin equation, or its quantum analog, the Lindblad equation. An intriguing open question is the following: Do the rigorous results on $S\tau B$ in probabilistic cellular automata translate to these settings? Since PCA are motivated as a coarse-grained description of the Hamiltonian world around us, it certainly tempting to speculate that they do. Two recent studies have shown how the π -Toom model can be embedded into classical Langevin (Zhuang et al., 2021) or quantum Lindblad (McGinley et al., 2021) dynamics, and in both cases there is strong numerical evidence for true $S\tau B$. However, there is not yet a fully rigorous proof as in Toom and Gács work. While Toomlike stability for a continuous-time version of a PCA was proved in (Gács, 2001), the state space in that model is discrete.

As we will discuss in the outlook, the answer to this question is a special case of a deeper one: Is errorcorrected computing *physically* realizable in this universe?

VI. OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A. New venues for time crystals

In Sec. III.C of this Colloquium, we introduced the mantra: Where there is ergodicity breaking, there will be time-crystals. This naturally suggests that new developments in the ergodicity breaking of many-body systems — ranging from Hilbert space fragmentation (Sala *et al.*, 2020; Yang *et al.*, 2020) and shattering (Khemani *et al.*, 2020) to quantum scars (Serbyn *et al.*, 2021; Turner *et al.*, 2018a) and Stark localization (Doggen *et al.*, 2021; van Nieuwenburg *et al.*, 2019; Schulz *et al.*, 2019) — represents fertile ground for exploring novel formulations of time-crystalline order.

1. Quantum many-body scars

Interacting quantum systems can exhibit a weak breakdown of thermalization, where certain initial conditions exhibit persistent many-body revivals in time (Bernien et al., 2017; Turner et al., 2018b). This phenomenon, dubbed quantum many-body scars, is associated with the presence of anomalous, non-thermal eigenstates; we direct the interested reader to a recent review on the topic (Serbyn et al., 2021). From the perspective of time crystalline order, the presence of scar states can cause the system to undergo periodic entanglement and disentanglement cycles following a quench (Ho et al., 2019; Michailidis et al., 2020; Serbyn et al., 2021). In practice, however, quantum many-body scar states are quite fragile since they rely upon the existence of a dynamically disconnected subspace of non-thermalizing eigenstates; indeed, the presence of generic interactions is expected to eventually lead to thermalization (Lin et al., 2020).

The connection between quantum many-body scars and time-crystalline behavior has recently been explored in a Rydberg-based quantum simulation platform (Bluvstein et al., 2021; Maskara et al., 2021). In particular, the experiments observed that the coherent revivals associated with quantum many-body scars could be stabilized by additional periodic driving. This periodic driving leads to both an increase in the lifetime of the scarred oscillations as well as the emergence of a period-doubled, subharmonic response. While reminiscent of prethermal time crystalline order (Sec. IV.D), we note two important differences. First, the experiments are performed in a regime where the driving frequency is of similar order as the local energy scales of the many-body system. Second, the subharmonic response exists only for Néel-like initial states (associated with the quantum scars) (Maskara et al., 2021). Looking forward, a number of doors are opened by the possibility that periodic driving can en*hance* the stability of non-ergodic dynamics. In addition to novel settings for observing time crystalline order, the ability to parametrically control the lifetime of such order could also lead to potential applications in areas such as quantum metrology and quantum information science.

2. Stark time crystals

In the presence of an electric field, the wavefunction of electrons in a material are localized to a region whose size decreases as the field increases. In the absence of interactions, this phenomenon, which arises *without* disorder, is known as Wannier-Stark localization (Wannier, 1959). Recent theoretical and experimental investigations have explored whether such localization can persist in the presence of many-body interactions, leading to Stark MBL (Guo *et al.*, 2020; Morong *et al.*, 2021; Scherg *et al.*, 2021; Schulz *et al.*, 2019).

(Kshetrimayum et al., 2020) discuss the possibility of discrete time crystals protected from Floquet heating by Stark many-body localization. They probe the existence of a Stark time crystal using numerical simulations of a one-dimensional spin chain; focusing on two specific initial states (i.e. the ferromagnetic and anti-ferromagnetic states), (Kshetrimayum et al., 2020) observe that for a sufficiently strong linear potential, the states exhibit time crystalline order, which seems to be robust to π pulse imperfections (recall discussions from Sec. IV.B). However, when differences in the linear potential coincide with integer multiples of the drive frequency, they observe the coherent self-destruction of time-crystalline behavior. An advantage of the clean, disorder-free setting, is that one can imagine the possibility of order that spontaneously breaks both spatial and time translation symmetries. This theme has been studied in a number of contexts (Smits et al., 2018; Träger et al., 2021; Žlabys et al., 2021) and remains an active area of exploration.

B. Prethermalization beyond Floquet quantum systems

1. Classical prethermal discrete time crystals

In Sec. IV.D, we focused our attention on prethermal time crystals in closed (i.e. unitarily evolving) quantum systems. However, as previously discussed, one of the central features of Floquet prethermalization—i.e. exponentially slow heating—is also expected to occur in classical many-body systems (Hodson and Jarzynski, 2021; Howell *et al.*, 2019; Mori, 2018). This immediately begs the question: Can such systems also host prethermal time crystals (Hodson and Jarzynski, 2021; Howell *et al.*, 2019; Mori, 2018; Pizzi *et al.*, 2021c; Ye *et al.*, 2021)?

Recent work by Ye *et al.*, 2021 and Pizzi *et al.*, 2021c answer this question in the affirmative. A practical advantage of the generalization to classical systems, is that it immediately enables the study of PDTCs in dimensions, d > 1. For example, Ye *et al.*, 2021 study a near-



FIG. 13 Schematic depiction of a prethermal time quasicrystal emerging from a quasiperiodically driven quantum system. During the prethermal regime, local observables exhibit discrete time quasicrystalline order, which ultimately melts at late times as the system Floquet heats to a featureless infinitetemperature state. Figure adapted from (Else *et al.*, 2020a).

neighbor-interacting classical Floquet spin model on the square lattice. Although the original Floquet evolution does not exhibit any symmetries, H_{eff} exhibits an emergent \mathbb{Z}_2 Ising symmetry. Unlike in the one dimensional case discussed in Sec. IV.D.2, in two dimensions, this Ising symmetry can be broken at finite temperatures.

2. Higher-M discrete time crystals

In both the quantum and classical settings, the emergent symmetry in H_{eff} is not restricted to just a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and different subharmonic PDTCs (i.e. beyond period doubling) can be realized (Giergiel *et al.*, 2018, 2020; Pizzi et al., 2021a; Surace et al., 2019). The simplest approach to doing this is to utilize a Floquet evolution where the " π -pulse" (see e.g. the discussion following Eq. 14) is adjusted to be close to a $\frac{\pi}{M}$ -pulse. In certain scenarios, this choice naturally leads to an effective Hamiltonian, H_{eff} , which exhibits a \mathbb{Z}_M symmetry (Pizzi et al., 2021c). When this \mathbb{Z}_M symmetry is spontaneously broken, the system will oscillate at a subharmonic frequency $\sim \omega_D/M$ throughout the prethermal regime. Using this strategy, Pizzi et al., 2021c construct a "phase diagram" for an $\omega_D/4$ PDTC in a three dimensional classical spin system.

When one utilizes a fractional M in the strategy above, the dynamics can be even richer than the integer case. Indeed, (Pizzi *et al.*, 2021a) explored this scenario in the presence of long-range interactions (Huang *et al.*, 2018; Kozin and Kyriienko, 2019; Russomanno *et al.*, 2017), observing signatures of PDTC order at a variety of fractional frequencies.

3. Prethermal time quasi-crystals

Building upon generalizations to higher-M PDTCs and fractional PDTCs (Matus and Sacha, 2019; Pizzi *et al.*, 2021a,c; Ye *et al.*, 2021), a natural question to ask is whether there can be non-trivial phases of matter in isolated many-body systems that are driven in a way that is *not* periodic in time. The focus of this outlook subsection is on the closed system, prethermal setting (Fig. 1) where a periodic drive is replaced by a *quasiperiodic* drive (Crowley *et al.*, 2019; Gommers *et al.*, 2006; Ringot *et al.*, 2000). Recent work has shown that such systems can host prethermal quasiperiodicallydriven phases of matter, and in particular can give rise to discrete time quasi-crystals (Dumitrescu *et al.*, 2018; Else *et al.*, 2020a).

Before jumping in however, we note that related phenomena have been explored in non-linear dissipative dynamical systems (see e.g. the coupled map lattice discussions in Sec. II.A) driven at two incommensurate frequencies (Ding *et al.*, 1989; Flicker, 2018; Held and Jeffries, 1986; Romeiras and Ott, 1987; Sethna and Siggia, 1984).

The spectral content of a periodic drive contains peaks only at a single drive frequency, ω_D , and its harmonics $n\omega_D$, for integer n. By contrast, the spectral content of a quasiperiodic drive has peaks at integer linear combinations: $n_1\omega_1 + n_2\omega_2 + \cdots + n_m\omega_m$, for some m > 1 number of incommensurate frequencies, $\{\omega_1, \cdots, \omega_m\}$. As in Sec. IV.D, in order to discuss prethermal phases, it is necessary for the system to exhibit slow-heating (i.e. energy absorption) from the drive. For quasiperiodic driving, this is strictly more challenging than the original Floquet setting, since the drive is (technically) able to supply energy in arbitrary units. Nevertheless, an analogous slow-heating result was rigorously proven by Else et al., 2020a. Before heating occurs (Fig. 13), the dynamics of the quasiperiodically driven system are wellapproximated (in a rotating frame) by an effective static Hamiltonian (in direct analogy to Sec. IV.D and Eqn. 16).

In order to discuss the possibility of prethermal time quasicrystals (which are stable during the prethermal time-scale, $t < t_*$), Else *et al.*, 2020a begin by defining what an "order parameter" for such a phase would look like. The subtlety is that a quasiperiodically driven system does not, strictly speaking, have any remaining time-translation symmetry to break. However, such a system can still exhibit a well-defined notion of a fractional or subharmonic frequency response (Fig. 13). In particular, an observable can respond in a quasiperiodic manner with base frequencies: $\{\widetilde{\omega}_1, \cdots, \widetilde{\omega}_n\}$. When the $\widetilde{\omega}_i$ are not harmonics of the original driving frequencies, then the system is said to exhibit a fractional frequency response and discrete time quasicrystalline order (Else et al., 2020a). Connecting to our previous discussions about emergent symmetries in H_{eff} , one can think of the discrete time quasicrystal as emerging from the spontaneous breaking of a different finite Abelian group symmetry (i.e. which replaces the \mathbb{Z}_M symmetry discussed in Secs. III.B.2, VI.B.1).

Finally, let us end this outlook subsection by pointing the reader to a number of related directions that fall outside the prethermal context. Many of these connect to the idea of quasiperiodic pattern formation in parametrically driven systems. For example, in the context of twofrequency forcing, even when the frequencies are commensurate (implying that they do not exhibit a quasiperiodic response in time), in certain scenarios, one can realize stable Faraday-wave patterns that are analogous to a two-dimensional quasicrystal (Besson et al., 1996; Edwards and Fauve, 1993; Silber et al., 2000). Various incarnations of a quasiperiodic response in time have also been explored in both theoretical proposals and experiments on cold atomic systems (Autti et al., 2018; Chinzei and Ikeda, 2020; Giergiel et al., 2018, 2019; Pizzi et al., 2019). As an example, (Giergiel et al., 2019) explore the dynamics of an ultra-cold atomic ensemble bouncing between two orthogonal harmonically oscillating mirrors. By tuning the bare frequencies of the unperturbed particle motion, the system can reproduce fragments of the Fibonacci sequence encoded via the bounces of the atomic ensemble off of the two mirrors.

C. Applications: from metrology to quantum information benchmarking

The periodic control underlying the discrete time crystal is, more generally, an indispensable tool in the context of nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (Bloembergen et al., 1948, 1947; Waugh et al., 1968), quantum information science (Biercuk et al., 2009; Khodjasteh and Lidar, 2005), and AMO-based quantum simulation (Bloch et al., 2012; Goldman et al., 2014). Building upon this connection, Choi et al., 2017b explored the possibility of engineering a Floquet system, where quasienergy gaps can protect entangled states from static perturbations, while still ensuring their sensitivity to an oscillating signal. In some sense, this idea can be understood as a generalization of spin echo spectroscopy, which utilizes many-body states; it is also related to the conventional concept of using phases of matter with spontaneously broken symmetries for sensing (Bennett et al., 2020; Frérot and Roscilde, 2018).

Choi *et al.*, 2017b investigated the use of a timecrystalline Floquet sequence to stabilize Schrodinger-cat states that are typically extremely fragile against local perturbations; they analyze a technique that allows for the enhancement of metrological bandwidth, while maintaining the sensitivity and discuss an example in the context of the precision measurement of AC magnetic fields. More recently, these ideas have also inspired new manybody driving protocols aimed at circumventing the socalled interaction limit for quantum sensing (Zhou *et al.*, 2020).

Beyond metrology, the fact that signatures of time crystalline order have been observed in a diverse array of physical platforms (see e.g. Secs. IV.C.1, IV.C.2, IV.C.3), suggests the possibility of cross platform benchmarking for the performance of near term quantum devices (Preskill, 2018). This idea builds on the more general thread that exploring non-equilibrium dynamical phenomena may represent a particularly natural strategy for verifying and validating noisy intermediate-scale quantum technology. Finally, suggestions for utilizing time crystalline order as a frequency standard or for beyond-SQL (standard quantum limit) quantum sensing have also been discussed (Lyu *et al.*, 2020), although explorations along this direction remain relatively nascent.

D. Concluding Remarks

As we have seen in this Colloquium, recent evidence points to (at least) two venues where infinitely-longlived time crystals can exist: (i) $S\tau B$ which is stable to time-translation invariant perturbations can occur in periodically-driven closed 1D quantum systems in the presence of strong disorder (Sec. IV.B) and (ii) $S\tau B$ which is stable to arbitrary perturbations can occur in periodically-driven D > 1 open systems, such as the π -Toom model, whose dynamics effectively implement a form of error correction (Sec. V.E). These two flavors of time crystals evade ergodicity by vastly different means, either by strongly localizing the degrees of freedom or by actively shrinking potentially ergodicity-generating fluctuations. Between these two extremes lie two regimes of time-crystalline behavior that are exponentially longlived: prethermal time crystals in closed systems (both classical and quantum) and activated time crystals in open systems. Although ergodicity is deferred in both cases, it is inevitable in the long run (Palmer, 1982; Petersen, 1989; Walters, 2000).

The possibility of $S\tau B$ in driven open systems can be understood as one consequence of a more radical form of ergodicity breaking: fault-tolerant computation. There is a long history of understanding computation as a fundamentally physical process, and the subsequent constraints which arise from thermodynamics: "Computers may be thought of as engines for transforming free energy into waste heat and mathematical work" (Bennett, 1982; Landauer, 1961; Wolpert, 2019). In this point of view, a time-crystal can be understood as a physical realization of a simple computer program: "while true, apply a global NOT-gate." If the program can execute perfectly despite faulty (noisy) gates, and with a physical implementation that relies only on local interactions, the execution of such a program can be understood as a nonequilibrium "phase of matter," and the error threshold

for fault-tolerance as a non-equilibrium phase transition into a time-crystalline phase.

The work of (Gács, 2001; Gács and Reif, 1988) has shown that fault-tolerant classical computation can indeed be realized as a locally-interacting autonomous process in the thermodynamic limit, and this work was later used to prove that fault-tolerant quantum computing can be as well (Dauphinais and Poulin, 2017; Harrington, 2004). One could thus realize a time-crystalline phase by repeatedly running the program "NOT" on such an errorcorrected computer, either quantum or classical. In this sense, the existence of time-crystals in open systems is an elementary application of deeper results regarding the physical realizability of error-correction in autonomous, locally interacting systems.

One open question is to understand how the transition from exponentially to infinitely long-lived time crystals precisely occurs. Indeed, as disorder is increased in closed 1D quantum systems, one expects a sharp phase transition to occur from the prethermal discrete time crystal (Sec. IV.D) to the Floquet-MBL discrete time crystal (Sec. IV.B); one expects a similar transition from the activated DTC to the Toom-type time crystal, as one tunes a uniform anti-majority-vote rule toward the antimajority NEC rule.

One possibility is that the exponentially long-lived time crystals' lifetimes — e.g. scaling as $\sim Ae^{\omega_D/J}$ in the prethermal case (Sec. IV.D) or as $\sim Ae^{\Delta/T}$ in the activated case (recall that Δ is the quasi-energy barrier defined in Sec. V.A) — exhibit a diverging prefactor. For example, as the transition is approached, A could diverge as $A \sim |g - g_c|^{-y}$, where g is the tuning parameter. An alternate possibility is that the effective energy scale 1/J or Δ might diverge at the transition.

A second set of open questions is whether a direct transition is possible from a Floquet-MBL discrete time crystal to a π -Toom or Gács-type time crystal (or something continuously connected to it). To the authors of this Colloquium, this possibility seems a bit unlikely since such a transition would have to occur precisely when the coupling to a bath is zero, where the system goes from closed to open. On the other hand, a Floquet-MBL discrete time crystal is what we would create with a perfect quantum computer executing precisely the same set of gates at each time step. Meanwhile, a π -Toom time crystal is what we might create with a noisy but faulttolerant quantum computer in which error correction was governed by a probabilistic cellular automaton. But since the former could be simulated by the latter, one might also logically expect them to be separated by no more than a second-order phase transition at which the rate of entropy production rises from zero with a discontinuous derivative.

REFERENCES

- Abanin, Dmitry, Wojciech De Roeck, Wen Wei Ho, and François Huveneers (2017a), "A rigorous theory of manybody prethermalization for periodically driven and closed quantum systems," Communications in Mathematical Physics **354** (3), 809–827.
- Abanin, Dmitry A, Ehud Altman, Immanuel Bloch, and Maksym Serbyn (2019), "Colloquium: Many-body localization, thermalization, and entanglement," Reviews of Modern Physics 91 (2), 021001.
- Abanin, Dmitry A, Wojciech De Roeck, Wen Wei Ho, and François Huveneers (2017b), "Effective hamiltonians, prethermalization, and slow energy absorption in periodically driven many-body systems," Physical Review B 95 (1), 014112.
- Abanin, Dmitry A, Wojciech De Roeck, and François Huveneers (2015), "Exponentially slow heating in periodically driven many-body systems," Physical review letters 115 (25), 256803.
- Abanin, Dmitry A, Wojciech De Roeck, and François Huveneers (2016), "Theory of many-body localization in periodically driven systems," Annals of Physics **372**, 1–11.
- Abanin, Dmitry A, and Zlatko Papić (2017), "Recent progress in many-body localization," Annalen der Physik 529 (7), 1700169.
- Abobeih, MH, J Randall, CE Bradley, HP Bartling, MA Bakker, MJ Degen, M Markham, DJ Twitchen, and TH Taminiau (2019), "Atomic-scale imaging of a 27-nuclear-spin cluster using a quantum sensor," Nature 576 (7787), 411–415.
- Albiez, Michael, Rudolf Gati, Jonas Fölling, Stefan Hunsmann, Matteo Cristiani, and Markus K Oberthaler (2005), "Direct observation of tunneling and nonlinear selftrapping in a single bosonic josephson junction," Physical review letters **95** (1), 010402.
- Alekseev, Anton, Jin Dai, and Antti J Niemi (2020), "Provenance of classical hamiltonian time crystals," Journal of High Energy Physics **2020** (8), 1–21.
- Arute, Frank, Kunal Arya, Ryan Babbush, Dave Bacon, Joseph C Bardin, Rami Barends, Rupak Biswas, Sergio Boixo, Fernando GSL Brandao, David A Buell, et al. (2019), "Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor," Nature 574 (7779), 505–510.
- Autti, S, VB Eltsov, and GE Volovik (2018), "Observation of a time quasicrystal and its transition to a superfluid time crystal," Physical review letters **120** (21), 215301.
- Autti, Samuli, Petri J Heikkinen, Jere T Mäkinen, Grigori E Volovik, Vladislav V Zavjalov, and Vladimir B Eltsov (2021), "Ac josephson effect between two superfluid time crystals," Nature Materials **20** (2), 171–174.
- Benjamin, Thomas Brooke, and Fritz Joseph Ursell (1954), "The stability of the plane free surface of a liquid in vertical periodic motion," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences 225 (1163), 505–515.
- Bennett, Charles H (1982), "The thermodynamics of computation—a review," International Journal of Theoretical Physics **21** (12), 905–940.
- Bennett, Charles H, G. Grinstein, Yu He, C. Jayaprakash, and David Mukamel (1990), "Stability of temporally periodic states of classical many-body systems," Phys. Rev. A 41, 1932–1935.

- Bennett, Charles H, and Geoffrey Grinstein (1985), "Role of irreversibility in stabilizing complex and nonergodic behavior in locally interacting discrete systems," Physical review letters 55 (7), 657.
- Bennett, Robert, David Steinbrecht, Yaroslav Gorbachev, and Stefan Yoshi Buhmann (2020), "Symmetry breaking in a condensate of light and its use as a quantum sensor," Phys. Rev. Applied **13**, 044031.
- Benz, SP, MS Rzchowski, M Tinkham, and CJ Lobb (1990), "Fractional giant shapiro steps and spatially correlated phase motion in 2d josephson arrays," Physical review letters 64 (6), 693.
- Berges, Jürgen, Sz Borsányi, and Christof Wetterich (2004), "Prethermalization," Physical review letters **93** (14), 142002.
- Berman, Piotr, and J'anos Simon (1988), "Investigations of fault-tolerant networks of computers," in *Proceedings of the twentieth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing*, pp. 66–77.
- Bernien, Hannes, Sylvain Schwartz, Alexander Keesling, Harry Levine, Ahmed Omran, Hannes Pichler, Soonwon Choi, Alexander S Zibrov, Manuel Endres, Markus Greiner, et al. (2017), "Probing many-body dynamics on a 51-atom quantum simulator," Nature 551 (7682), 579–584.
- Besson, Thomas, W Stuart Edwards, and Laurette S Tuckerman (1996), "Two-frequency parametric excitation of surface waves," Physical Review E 54 (1), 507.
- Bialynicki-Birula, Iwo, Maciej Kaliński, and JH Eberly (1994), "Lagrange equilibrium points in celestial mechanics and nonspreading wave packets for strongly driven rydberg electrons," Physical review letters **73** (13), 1777.
- Biercuk, Michael J, Hermann Uys, Aaron P VanDevender, Nobuyasu Shiga, Wayne M Itano, and John J Bollinger (2009), "Optimized dynamical decoupling in a model quantum memory," Nature 458 (7241), 996–1000.
- Birkhoff, George D (1931), "Proof of the ergodic theorem," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **17** (12), 656–660.
- Birkhoff, George David (1927), *Dynamical systems*, Vol. 9 (American Mathematical Soc.).
- Bloch, Immanuel, Jean Dalibard, and Sylvain Nascimbene (2012), "Quantum simulations with ultracold quantum gases," Nature Physics 8 (4), 267–276.
- Bloembergen, Nicolaas, Edward Mills Purcell, and Robert V Pound (1948), "Relaxation effects in nuclear magnetic resonance absorption," Physical review 73 (7), 679.
- Bloembergen, Nicolaas, EM Purcell, and RV Pound (1947), "Nuclear magnetic relaxation," Nature **160** (4066), 475– 476.
- Bluvstein, Dolev, Ahmed Omran, Harry Levine, Alexander Keesling, Giulia Semeghini, Sepehr Ebadi, Tout T Wang, Alexios A Michailidis, Nishad Maskara, Wen Wei Ho, et al. (2021), "Controlling quantum many-body dynamics in driven rydberg atom arrays," Science **371** (6536), 1355–1359.
- Bohr, Tomas, Per Bak, and Mogens H ϕ gh Jensen (1984), "Transition to chaos by interaction of resonances in dissipative systems. ii. josephson junctions, charge-density waves, and standard maps," Physical review A **30** (4), 1970.
- Booker, Cameron, Berislav Buča, and Dieter Jaksch (2020), "Non-stationarity and dissipative time crystals: spectral properties and finite-size effects," New Journal of Physics 22 (8), 085007.
- Bordia, Pranjal, Henrik Lüschen, Ulrich Schneider, Michael

Knap, and Immanuel Bloch (2017), "Periodically driving a many-body localized quantum system," Nature Physics **13** (5), 460–464.

- Brown, Stuart E, George Mozurkewich, and George Grüner (1984), "Subharmonic shapiro steps and devil's-staircase behavior in driven charge-density-wave systems," Physical review letters **52** (25), 2277.
- Bruno, Patrick (2013), "Impossibility of spontaneously rotating time crystals: a no-go theorem," Physical review letters 111 (7), 070402.
- Buča, Berislav, and Dieter Jaksch (2019), "Dissipation induced nonstationarity in a quantum gas," Physical review letters 123 (26), 260401.
- Buča, Berislav, Joseph Tindall, and Dieter Jaksch (2019), "Non-stationary coherent quantum many-body dynamics through dissipation," Nature Communications **10** (1), 1–6.
- Buchleitner, Andreas, and Dominique Delande (1995), "Nondispersive electronic wave packets in multiphoton processes," Physical review letters **75** (8), 1487.
- Buchleitner, Andreas, Dominique Delande, and Jakub Zakrzewski (2002), "Non-dispersive wave packets in periodically driven quantum systems," Physics reports 368 (5), 409–547.
- Bukov, Marin, Luca D'Alessio, and Anatoli Polkovnikov (2015), "Universal high-frequency behavior of periodically driven systems: from dynamical stabilization to floquet engineering," Advances in Physics 64 (2), 139–226.
- Bunimovich, Leonid A, and Ya G Sinai (1988), "Spacetime chaos in coupled map lattices," Nonlinearity 1 (4), 491.
- Chi, Huan-Hang, and Hong-Jian He (2014), "Single-valued hamiltonian via legendre–fenchel transformation and time translation symmetry," Nuclear Physics B 885, 448–458.
- Chinzei, Koki, and Tatsuhiko N Ikeda (2020), "Time crystals protected by floquet dynamical symmetry in hubbard models," Physical Review Letters **125** (6), 060601.
- Chirikov, Boris V (1979), "A universal instability of manydimensional oscillator systems," Physics reports 52 (5), 263–379.
- Choi, Jae-yoon, Sebastian Hild, Johannes Zeiher, Peter Schauß, Antonio Rubio-Abadal, Tarik Yefsah, Vedika Khemani, David A Huse, Immanuel Bloch, and Christian Gross (2016), "Exploring the many-body localization transition in two dimensions," Science **352** (6293), 1547–1552.
- Choi, Joonhee, Hengyun Zhou, Helena S Knowles, Renate Landig, Soonwon Choi, and Mikhail D Lukin (2020), "Robust dynamic hamiltonian engineering of many-body spin systems," Physical Review X 10 (3), 031002.
- Choi, Soonwon, Joonhee Choi, Renate Landig, Georg Kucsko, Hengyun Zhou, Junichi Isoya, Fedor Jelezko, Shinobu Onoda, Hitoshi Sumiya, Vedika Khemani, et al. (2017a), "Observation of discrete time-crystalline order in a disordered dipolar many-body system," Nature 543 (7644), 221–225.
- Choi, Soonwon, Norman Y Yao, and Mikhail D Lukin (2017b), "Quantum metrology based on strongly correlated matter," arXiv preprint arXiv:1801.00042.
- Choudhury, A Ghose, and Partha Guha (2019), "Branched hamiltonians and time translation symmetry breaking in equations of the liénard type," Modern Physics Letters A **34** (32), 1950263.
- Cornfeld, Isaac P, Sergej V Fomin, and Yakov Grigorevich Sinai (2012), *Ergodic theory*, Vol. 245 (Springer Science & Business Media).
- Crowley, Philip JD, Ivar Martin, and Anushya Chandran (2019), "Topological classification of quasiperiodi-

cally driven quantum systems," Physical Review B **99** (6), 064306.

- Dai, Jin, Antti J Niemi, and Xubiao Peng (2020), "Classical hamiltonian time crystals–general theory and simple examples," New Journal of Physics 22 (8), 085006.
- Dai, Jin, Antti J Niemi, Xubiao Peng, and Frank Wilczek (2019), "Truncated dynamics, ring molecules, and mechanical time crystals," Physical Review A 99 (2), 023425.
- D'Alessio, Luca, and Marcos Rigol (2014), "Long-time Behavior of Isolated Periodically Driven Interacting Lattice Systems," Physical Review X 4 (4), 041048.
- Dauphinais, Guillaume, and David Poulin (2017), "Faulttolerant quantum error correction for non-abelian anyons," Communications in Mathematical Physics **355** (2), 519– 560.
- De Roeck, Wojciech, and François Huveneers (2017), "Stability and instability towards delocalization in many-body localization systems," Physical Review B **95** (15), 155129.
- De Roeck, Wojciech, Francois Huveneers, Markus Müller, and Mauro Schiulaz (2016), "Absence of many-body mobility edges," Physical Review B **93** (1), 014203.
- Deutsch, J M (1991), "Quantum statistical mechanics in a closed system," Phys. Rev. A 43 (4), 2046–2049.
- Ding, Mingzhou, Celso Grebogi, and Edward Ott (1989), "Evolution of attractors in quasiperiodically forced systems: From quasiperiodic to strange nonchaotic to chaotic," Physical review A **39** (5), 2593.
- Dobrušin, Roland L, RL Dobrushin, VI Kriukov, and AL Toom (1990), Stochastic cellular systems: ergodicity, memory, morphogenesis (Manchester University Press).
- Doggen, Elmer VH, Igor V Gornyi, and Dmitry G Polyakov (2021), "Stark many-body localization: Evidence for hilbert-space shattering," Physical Review B 103 (10), L100202.
- Dogra, Nishant, Manuele Landini, Katrin Kroeger, Lorenz Hruby, Tobias Donner, and Tilman Esslinger (2019), "Dissipation-induced structural instability and chiral dynamics in a quantum gas," Science **366** (6472), 1496–1499.
- Dumitrescu, Philipp T, Romain Vasseur, and Andrew C Potter (2018), "Logarithmically slow relaxation in quasiperiodically driven random spin chains," Physical review letters 120 (7), 070602.
- D'Alessio, Luca, and Anatoli Polkovnikov (2013), "Manybody energy localization transition in periodically driven systems," Annals of Physics **333**, 19–33.
- Eckardt, André, and Egidijus Anisimovas (2015), "Highfrequency approximation for periodically driven quantum systems from a floquet-space perspective," New journal of physics **17** (9), 093039.
- Edwards, W Stuart, and S Fauve (1994), "Patterns and quasi-patterns in the faraday experiment," Journal of Fluid Mechanics **278**, 123–148.
- Edwards, W Stuart, and Stéphane Fauve (1993), "Parametrically excited quasicrystalline surface waves," Physical Review E 47 (2), R788.
- Else, Dominic V, Bela Bauer, and Chetan Nayak (2016), "Floquet time crystals," Physical review letters **117** (9), 090402.
- Else, Dominic V, Bela Bauer, and Chetan Nayak (2017), "Prethermal phases of matter protected by timetranslation symmetry," Physical Review X 7 (1), 011026.
- Else, Dominic V, Wen Wei Ho, and Philipp T Dumitrescu (2020a), "Long-lived interacting phases of matter protected by multiple time-translation symmetries in quasiperiodi-

cally driven systems," Physical Review X 10 (2), 021032.

- Else, Dominic V, Christopher Monroe, Chetan Nayak, and Norman Y Yao (2020b), "Discrete time crystals," Annual Review of Condensed Matter Physics **11**, 467–499.
- Fan, Chu-hui, D Rossini, Han-Xiao Zhang, Jin-Hui Wu, M Artoni, and GC La Rocca (2020), "Discrete time crystal in a finite chain of rydberg atoms without disorder," Physical Review A 101 (1), 013417.
- Faraday, Michael (1831), "Xvii. on a peculiar class of acoustical figures; and on certain forms assumed by groups of particles upon vibrating elastic surfaces," Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London (121), 299–340.
- Feller, William (1957), "An introduction to probability theory and its applications," .
- Fisher, Michael E, Shang-keng Ma, and BG Nickel (1972), "Critical exponents for long-range interactions," Physical Review Letters 29 (14), 917.
- Flatté, Michael E, and Martin Holthaus (1996), "Classical and quantum dynamics of a periodically driven particle in a triangular well," annals of physics **245** (1), 113–146.
- Flicker, Felix (2018), "Time quasilattices in dissipative dynamical systems," SciPost Physics 5 (1).
- Floquet, G (1883), fr"Sur les équations différentielles linéaires à coefficients périodiques," Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure **2e série**, **12**, 47–88.
- Frérot, Irénée, and Tommaso Roscilde (2018), "Quantum critical metrology," Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 020402.
- Frey, Philipp, and Stephan Rachel (2022), "Realization of a discrete time crystal on 57 qubits of a quantum computer," Science Advances 8 (9), eabm7652, https://www.science.org/doi/pdf/10.1126/sciadv.abm7652.
- Fulton, William, and Joe Harris (2013), Representation theory: a first course, Vol. 129 (Springer Science & Business Media).
- Gács, Peter (2001), "Reliable cellular automata with selforganization," Journal of Statistical Physics **103** (1), 45– 267.
- Gacs, Peter (2021), "A new version of toom's proof," arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.05968.
- Gács, Peter, and John Reif (1988), "A simple threedimensional real-time reliable cellular array," Journal of Computer and System Sciences **36** (2), 125–147.
- Gambetta, FM, F Carollo, Achilleas Lazarides, I Lesanovsky, and JP Garrahan (2019a), "Classical stochastic discrete time crystals," Physical Review E 100 (6), 060105.
- Gambetta, FM, F Carollo, M Marcuzzi, JP Garrahan, and I Lesanovsky (2019b), "Discrete time crystals in the absence of manifest symmetries or disorder in open quantum systems," Physical review letters **122** (1), 015701.
- Gielis, G, and RS MacKay (2000), "Coupled map lattices with phase transition," Nonlinearity **13** (3), 867.
- Giergiel, Krzysztof, Arkadiusz Kosior, Peter Hannaford, and Krzysztof Sacha (2018), "Time crystals: analysis of experimental conditions," Physical Review A 98 (1), 013613.
- Giergiel, Krzysztof, Arkadiusz Kuroś, and Krzysztof Sacha (2019), "Discrete time quasicrystals," Physical Review B 99 (22), 220303.
- Giergiel, Krzysztof, Tien Tran, Ali Zaheer, Arpana Singh, Andrei Sidorov, Krzysztof Sacha, and Peter Hannaford (2020), "Creating big time crystals with ultracold atoms," New Journal of Physics 22 (8), 085004.
- Givental, Alexander B, Boris A. Khesin, Jerrold E. Marsden, Alexander N. Varchenko, Victor A. Vassiliev, Oleg Ya.

Viro, and Vladimir M. Zakalyukin, Eds. (2009), "Proof of a theorem of a. n. kolmogorov on the invariance of quasiperiodic motions under small perturbations of the hamiltonian," in *Collected Works: Representations of Functions, Celestial Mechanics and KAM Theory, 1957–1965* (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg) pp. 267– 294.

- Goldman, Nathan, G Juzeliūnas, Patrik Öhberg, and Ian B Spielman (2014), "Light-induced gauge fields for ultracold atoms," Reports on Progress in Physics 77 (12), 126401.
- Gommers, R, S Denisov, and F Renzoni (2006), "Quasiperiodically driven ratchets for cold atoms," Physical review letters 96 (24), 240604.
- Gong, Zongping, Ryusuke Hamazaki, and Masahito Ueda (2018), "Discrete time-crystalline order in cavity and circuit qed systems," Physical review letters **120** (4), 040404.
- Gray, Lawrence F (2001), "A reader's guide to gacs's "positive rates" paper," Journal of Statistical Physics **103** (1), 1–44.
- Gring, Michael, Maximilian Kuhnert, Tim Langen, Takuya Kitagawa, Bernhard Rauer, Matthias Schreitl, Igor Mazets, D Adu Smith, Eugene Demler, and Jörg Schmiedmayer (2012), "Relaxation and prethermalization in an isolated quantum system," Science **337** (6100), 1318–1322.
- Grinstein, G, C Jayaprakash, and Yu He (1985), "Statistical mechanics of probabilistic cellular automata," Physical review letters **55** (23), 2527.
- Grüner, G, A Zawadowski, and PM Chaikin (1981), "Nonlinear conductivity and noise due to charge-density-wave depinning in nb se 3," Physical Review Letters 46 (7), 511.
- Grüner, George (1988), "The dynamics of charge-density waves," Reviews of modern physics **60** (4), 1129.
- Guo, Lingzhen, and Pengfei Liang (2020), "Condensed matter physics in time crystals," New Journal of Physics **22** (7), 075003.
- Guo, Qiujiang, Chen Cheng, Hekang Li, Shibo Xu, Pengfei Zhang, Zhen Wang, Chao Song, Wuxin Liu, Wenhui Ren, Hang Dong, et al. (2020), "Stark many-body localization on a superconducting quantum processor," arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.13895.
- Gutowitz, Howard (1991), Cellular automata: Theory and experiment (MIT press).
- Hannaford, Peter and Sacha, Krzysztof (2022), "Condensed matter physics in big discrete time crystals," arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.05544.
- Harrington, James William (2004), Analysis of quantum error-correcting codes: symplectic lattice codes and toric codes (California Institute of Technology).
- Hayashi, Chihiro (1953), "Subharmonic oscillations in nonlinear systems," Journal of Applied Physics **24** (5), 521–529.
- Held, GA, and Carson Jeffries (1986), "Quasiperiodic transitions to chaos of instabilities in an electron-hole plasma excited by ac perturbations at one and at two frequencies," Physical review letters **56** (11), 1183.
- Heltberg, Mathias, Ryan A Kellogg, Sandeep Krishna, Savaş Tay, and Mogens H Jensen (2016), "Noise induces hopping between nf-κb entrainment modes," Cell systems **3** (6), 532–539.
- Ho, Wen Wei, Soonwon Choi, Mikhail D Lukin, and Dmitry A Abanin (2017), "Critical time crystals in dipolar systems," Physical review letters 119 (1), 010602.
- Ho, Wen Wei, Soonwon Choi, Hannes Pichler, and Mikhail D Lukin (2019), "Periodic orbits, entanglement, and quantum many-body scars in constrained models: Matrix product state approach," Physical review letters **122** (4), 040603.

- Hodson, Wade, and Christopher Jarzynski (2021), "Energy diffusion and absorption in chaotic systems with rapid periodic driving," Physical Review Research **3** (1), 013219.
- Holthaus, Martin (1995), "On the classical-quantum correspondence for periodically time dependent systems," Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 5 (7), 1143–1167.
- Holthaus, Martin, and Michael E Flatté (1994), "Subharmonic generation in quantum systems," Physics Letters A 187 (2), 151–156.
- Howell, Owen, Phillip Weinberg, Dries Sels, Anatoli Polkovnikov, and Marin Bukov (2019), "Asymptotic prethermalization in periodically driven classical spin chains," Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (1), 010602.
- Huang, Yi, Tongcang Li, and Zhang-qi Yin (2018), "Symmetry-breaking dynamics of the finite-size lipkinmeshkov-glick model near ground state," Physical Review A 97 (1), 012115.
- Hundley, MF, and A Zettl (1989), "Noise and ac-dc interference phenomena in the charge-density-wave conductor k 0.3 moo 3," Physical Review B **39** (5), 3026.
- Iemini, F, A Russomanno, J Keeling, M Schirò, M Dalmonte, and R Fazio (2018), "Boundary time crystals," Physical review letters **121** (3), 035301.
- Imbrie, John Z (2016), "On many-body localization for quantum spin chains," Journal of Statistical Physics 163 (5), 998–1048.
- Inoue, J-I, and A. Tanaka (2010), "Photoinduced Transition between Conventional and Topological Insulators in Two-Dimensional Electronic Systems," Physical Review Letters 105 (1), 017401, arXiv:1006.5283 [cond-mat.mtrl-sci].
- Ippoliti, Matteo, Kostyantyn Kechedzhi, Roderich Moessner, SL Sondhi, and Vedika Khemani (2020), "Many-body physics in the nisq era: quantum programming a discrete time crystal," arXiv preprint arXiv:2007.11602.
- Jackson, Russell K, and Michael I Weinstein (2004), "Geometric analysis of bifurcation and symmetry breaking in a gross—pitaevskii equation," Journal of Statistical Physics 116 (1), 881–905.
- Jiang, L, T. Kitagawa, J. Alicea, A. R. Akhmerov, D. Pekker, G. Refael, J. I. Cirac, E. Demler, M. D. Lukin, and P. Zoller (2011), "Majorana Fermions in Equilibrium and in Driven Cold-Atom Quantum Wires," Physical Review Letters **106** (22), 220402, arXiv:1102.5367 [cond-mat.quantgas].
- Kagan, Yu, and MI Klinger (1974), "Theory of quantum diffusion of atoms in crystals," Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics **7** (16), 2791.
- Kaneko, Kunihiko (1984), "Period-doubling of kink-antikink patterns, quasiperiodicity in antiferro-like structures and spatial intermittency in coupled logistic lattice: Towards a prelude of a "field theory of chaos"," Progress of Theoretical Physics **72** (3), 480–486.
- Kaneko, Kunihiko (1992), "Overview of coupled map lattices," Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science 2 (3), 279–282.
- Kaneko, Kunihiko, and Tetsuro Konishi (1987), "Transition, ergodicity and lyapunov spectra of hamiltonian dynamical systems," Journal of the Physical Society of Japan **56** (9), 2993–2996.
- Kapral, Raymond (1985), "Pattern formation in twodimensional arrays of coupled, discrete-time oscillators," Physical Review A 31 (6), 3868.
- Katok, Anatole, and Boris Hasselblatt (1997), Introduction to the modern theory of dynamical systems, 54 (Cambridge

university press).

- Keßler, Hans, Jayson G Cosme, Christoph Georges, Ludwig Mathey, and Andreas Hemmerich (2020), "From a continuous to a discrete time crystal in a dissipative atom-cavity system," New Journal of Physics 22 (8), 085002.
- Keßler, Hans, Jayson G Cosme, Michal Hemmerling, Ludwig Mathey, and Andreas Hemmerich (2019), "Emergent limit cycles and time crystal dynamics in an atom-cavity system," Physical Review A 99 (5), 053605.
- Keßler, Hans, Phatthamon Kongkhambut, Christoph Georges, Ludwig Mathey, Jayson G. Cosme, and Andreas Hemmerich (2021), "Observation of a dissipative time crystal," Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, 043602.
- von Keyserlingk, Curt W, Vedika Khemani, and Shivaji L Sondhi (2016), "Absolute stability and spatiotemporal long-range order in floquet systems," Physical Review B **94** (8), 085112.
- von Keyserlingk, Curt W, and Shivaji L Sondhi (2016a), "Phase structure of one-dimensional interacting floquet systems. i. abelian symmetry-protected topological phases," Physical Review B **93** (24), 245145.
- von Keyserlingk, Curt W, and Shivaji L Sondhi (2016b), "Phase structure of one-dimensional interacting floquet systems. ii. symmetry-broken phases," Physical Review B 93 (24), 245146.
- Khemani, Vedika, Michael Hermele, and Rahul Nandkishore (2020), "Localization from hilbert space shattering: From theory to physical realizations," Physical Review B 101 (17), 174204.
- Khemani, Vedika, Achilleas Lazarides, Roderich Moessner, and Shivaji L Sondhi (2016), "Phase structure of driven quantum systems," Physical review letters **116** (25), 250401.
- Khemani, Vedika, Roderich Moessner, and SL Sondhi (2019), "A brief history of time crystals," arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.10745.
- Khemani, Vedika, Roderich Moessner, and SL Sondhi (2021), "A comment on" discrete time crystals: rigidity, criticality, and realizations"," arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.00551.
- Khodjasteh, Kaveh, and Daniel A Lidar (2005), "Faulttolerant quantum dynamical decoupling," Physical review letters **95** (18), 180501.
- Kjaergaard, Morten, Mollie E Schwartz, Jochen Braumüller, Philip Krantz, Joel I-J Wang, Simon Gustavsson, and William D Oliver (2020), "Superconducting qubits: Current state of play," Annual Review of Condensed Matter Physics 11, 369–395.
- Kolmogorov, Andrey Nikolaevich (1954), "On conservation of conditionally periodic motions for a small change in hamilton's function," in *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, Vol. 98, pp. 527–530.
- Kongkhambut, Phatthamon, Jim Skulte, Ludwig Mathey, Jayson G Cosme, Andreas Hemmerich, and Hans Keßler (2022), "Observation of a continuous time crystal," arXiv preprint arXiv:2202.06980.
- Kontorova, T, and Jl Frenkel (1938), "On the theory of plastic deformation and twinning. ii." Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 8, 1340– 1348.
- Kosterlitz, JM (1976), "Phase transitions in long-range ferromagnetic chains," Physical Review Letters 37 (23), 1577.
- Kozin, Valerii K, and Oleksandr Kyriienko (2019), "Quantum time crystals from hamiltonians with long-range interactions," Physical review letters **123** (21), 210602.
- Kshetrimayum, A, J Eisert, and DM Kennes (2020), "Stark

time crystals: Symmetry breaking in space and time," Physical Review B **102** (19), 195116.

- Kucsko, Georg, Soonwon Choi, Joonhee Choi, Peter C Maurer, Hengyun Zhou, Renate Landig, Hitoshi Sumiya, Shinobu Onoda, Junichi Isoya, Fedor Jelezko, *et al.* (2018), "Critical thermalization of a disordered dipolar spin system in diamond," Physical review letters **121** (2), 023601.
- Kumar, Krishna, and Laurette S Tuckerman (1994), "Parametric instability of the interface between two fluids," Journal of Fluid Mechanics 279, 49–68.
- Kuroś, Arkadiusz, Rick Mukherjee, Weronika Golletz, Frederic Sauvage, Krzysztof Giergiel, Florian Mintert, and Krzysztof Sacha (2020), "Phase diagram and optimal control for n-tupling discrete time crystal," New Journal of Physics 22 (9), 095001.
- Kuwahara, Tomotaka, Takashi Mori, and Keiji Saito (2016), "Floquet–magnus theory and generic transient dynamics in periodically driven many-body quantum systems," Annals of Physics **367**, 96–124.
- Kyprianidis, Antonis, Francisco Machado, William Morong, Patrick Becker, Kate S Collins, Dominic V Else, Lei Feng, Paul W Hess, Chetan Nayak, Guido Pagano, et al. (2021), "Observation of a prethermal discrete time crystal," Science **372** (6547), 1192–1196.
- Landauer, Rolf (1961), "Irreversibility and heat generation in the computing process," IBM journal of research and development 5 (3), 183–191.
- Lasota, A, T-Y Li, and JA Yorke (1984), "Asymptotic periodicity of the iterates of markov operators," Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **286** (2), 751–764.
- Lasota, Andrzej, and Michael C Mackey (2013), Chaos, fractals, and noise: stochastic aspects of dynamics, Vol. 97 (Springer Science & Business Media).
- Lazarides, Achilleas, Arnab Das, and Roderich Moessner (2015), "Fate of many-body localization under periodic driving," Physical review letters **115** (3), 030402.
- Lazarides, Achilleas, Sthitadhi Roy, Francesco Piazza, and Roderich Moessner (2020), "Time crystallinity in dissipative floquet systems," Physical Review Research 2 (2), 022002.
- Lebowitz, Joel L, Christian Maes, and Eugene R Speer (1990), "Statistical mechanics of probabilistic cellular automata," Journal of statistical physics **59** (1), 117–170.
- Lee, Hyun C, RS Newrock, DB Mast, SE Hebboul, JC Garland, and CJ Lobb (1991), "Subharmonic shapiro steps in josephson-junction arrays," Physical Review B 44 (2), 921.
- Liao, Lei, Jasper Smits, Peter van der Straten, and HTC Stoof (2019), "Dynamics of a space-time crystal in an atomic bose-einstein condensate," Physical Review A 99 (1), 013625.
- Liggett, Thomas Milton (2012), Interacting particle systems, Vol. 276.
- Lin, Cheng-Ju, Anushya Chandran, and Olexei I Motrunich (2020), "Slow thermalization of exact quantum many-body scar states under perturbations," Physical Review Research 2 (3), 033044.
- Lindner, Netanel H, Gil Refael, and Victor Galitski (2011), "Floquet topological insulator in semiconductor quantum wells," Nat. Phys. 7, 490–495.
- Lledó, Cristóbal, Th K Mavrogordatos, and MH Szymańska (2019), "Driven bose-hubbard dimer under nonlocal dissipation: A bistable time crystal," Physical Review B 100 (5), 054303.
- Lledó, Cristóbal, and Marzena H Szymańska (2020), "A dissi-

pative time crystal with or without z2 symmetry breaking," New Journal of Physics **22** (7), 075002.

- Losson, Jérôme, and Michael C Mackey (1996), "Thermodynamic properties of coupled map lattices," Stochastic and spatial structures of dynamical systems, 41–69.
- Losson, Jérôme, John Milton, and Michael C Mackey (1995), "Phase transitions in networks of chaotic elements with short and long range interactions," Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena 81 (1-2), 177–203.
- Luitz, David J, François Huveneers, and Wojciech De Roeck (2017), "How a small quantum bath can thermalize long localized chains," Physical review letters **119** (15), 150602.
- Luitz, David J, Roderich Moessner, SL Sondhi, and Vedika Khemani (2020), "Prethermalization without temperature," Physical Review X 10 (2), 021046.
- Lyu, Changyuan, Sayan Choudhury, Chenwei Lv, Yangqian Yan, and Qi Zhou (2020), "Eternal discrete time crystal beating the heisenberg limit," Physical Review Research 2 (3), 033070.
- MacDonald, AH, and Michael Plischke (1983), "Study of the driven damped pendulum: Application to josephson junctions and charge-density-wave systems," Physical Review B 27 (1), 201.
- Machado, Francisco, Dominic V Else, Gregory D Kahanamoku-Meyer, Chetan Nayak, and Norman Y Yao (2020), "Long-range prethermal phases of nonequilibrium matter," Physical Review X **10** (1), 011043.
- Machado, Francisco, Gregory D Kahanamoku-Meyer, Dominic V Else, Chetan Nayak, and Norman Y Yao (2019), "Exponentially slow heating in short and long-range interacting floquet systems," Physical Review Research 1 (3), 033202.
- Mali, Petar, Jasmina Tekić, Zoran Ivić, and Milan Pantić (2012), "Effects of noise on interference phenomena in the presence of subharmonic shapiro steps," Physical Review E 86 (4), 046209.
- Maskara, N, A. A. Michailidis, W. W. Ho, D. Bluvstein, S. Choi, M. D. Lukin, and M. Serbyn (2021), "Discrete time-crystalline order enabled by quantum manybody scars: Entanglement steering via periodic driving," Phys. Rev. Lett. **127**, 090602.
- Matus, Paweł, and Krzysztof Sacha (2019), "Fractional time crystals," Physical Review A **99** (3), 033626.
- McCumber, DE (1968), "Effect of ac impedance on dc voltage-current characteristics of superconductor weak-link junctions," Journal of Applied Physics **39** (7), 3113–3118.
- McGinley, Max, Sthitadhi Roy, and SA Parameswaran (2021), "Absolutely stable spatiotemporal order in noisy quantum systems," arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.02499.
- McLachlan, NW (1947), "Mathieu functions of fractional order," Journal of Mathematics and Physics 26 (1-4), 29–41.
- Mi, Xiao, Matteo Ippoliti, Chris Quintana, Amy Greene, Zijun Chen, Jonathan Gross, Frank Arute, Kunal Arya, Juan Atalaya, Ryan Babbush, *et al.* (2021), "Observation of time-crystalline eigenstate order on a quantum processor," arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.13571.
- Michailidis, AA, CJ Turner, Z Papić, DA Abanin, and Maksym Serbyn (2020), "Stabilizing two-dimensional quantum scars by deformation and synchronization," Physical Review Research **2** (2), 022065.
- Middleton, A Alan, Ofer Biham, PB Littlewood, and P Sibani (1992), "Complete mode locking in models of charge-density waves," Physical review letters **68** (10), 1586.

- Monroe, C, W. C. Campbell, L.-M. Duan, Z.-X. Gong, A. V. Gorshkov, P. W. Hess, R. Islam, K. Kim, N. M. Linke, G. Pagano, P. Richerme, C. Senko, and N. Y. Yao (2021), "Programmable quantum simulations of spin systems with trapped ions," Rev. Mod. Phys. 93, 025001.
- Mori, Takashi (2018), "Floquet prethermalization in periodically driven classical spin systems," Phys. Rev. B **98** (10), 104303.
- Mori, Takashi, Tomotaka Kuwahara, and Keiji Saito (2016), "Rigorous bound on energy absorption and generic relaxation in periodically driven quantum systems," Physical review letters **116** (12), 120401.
- Morita, Hidetoshi, and Kunihiko Kaneko (2006), "Collective oscillation in a hamiltonian system," Physical review letters 96 (5), 050602.
- Morong, William, Fangli Liu, Patrick Becker, KS Collins, Lei Feng, Antonis Kyprianidis, Guido Pagano, Tianyu You, AV Gorshkov, and Christopher Monroe (2021), "Observation of stark many-body localization without disorder," arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.07250.
- Möser, J (1962), "On invariant curves of area-preserving mappings of an annulus," Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen, II , 1–20.
- Moudgalya, Sanjay, David A Huse, and Vedika Khemani (2020), "Perturbative instability towards delocalization at phase transitions between mbl phases," arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.09113.
- Nandkishore, Rahul, and David A Huse (2015), "Many-body localization and thermalization in quantum statistical mechanics," Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 6 (1), 15–38.
- van Nieuwenburg, Evert, Yuval Baum, and Gil Refael (2019), "From bloch oscillations to many-body localization in clean interacting systems," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **116** (19), 9269–9274, https://www.pnas.org/content/116/19/9269.full.pdf.
- Nozières, Philippe (2013), "Time crystals: Can diamagnetic currents drive a charge density wave into rotation?" EPL (Europhysics Letters) **103** (5), 57008.
- Olver, Peter J (1982), "A nonlinear hamiltonian structure for the euler equations," Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications **89** (1), 233–250.
- Pal, Soham, Naveen Nishad, TS Mahesh, and GJ Sreejith (2018), "Temporal order in periodically driven spins in starshaped clusters," Physical review letters **120** (18), 180602.
- Palmer, RG (1982), "Broken ergodicity," Advances in Physics 31 (6), 669–735.
- Pedersen, PAULI (1980), "Stability of the solutions to mathieu-hill equations with damping," Ingenieur-Archiv 49 (1), 15–29.
- Pedersen, PO (1935), "Subharmonics in forced oscillations in dissipative systems. part i," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 6 (4), 227–238.
- Peng, Pai, Chao Yin, Xiaoyang Huang, Chandrasekhar Ramanathan, and Paola Cappellaro (2021), "Floquet prethermalization in dipolar spin chains," Nature Physics 17 (4), 444–447.
- Petersen, Karl E (1989), *Ergodic theory*, Vol. 2 (Cambridge University Press).
- Pizzi, Andrea, Johannes Knolle, and Andreas Nunnenkamp (2019), "Period-n discrete time crystals and quasicrystals with ultracold bosons," Physical review letters **123** (15), 150601.
- Pizzi, Andrea, Johannes Knolle, and Andreas Nunnenkamp (2021a), "Higher-order and fractional discrete time crystals

in clean long-range interacting systems," Nature communications 12 (1), 1–7.

- Pizzi, Andrea, Andreas Nunnenkamp, and Johannes Knolle (2021b), "Bistability and time crystals in long-ranged directed percolation," Nature communications 12 (1), 1–8.
- Pizzi, Andrea, Andreas Nunnenkamp, and Johannes Knolle (2021c), "(classical) prethermal phases of matter," arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.13928.
- Ponte, Pedro, Zlatko Papić, François Huveneers, and Dmitry A Abanin (2015), "Many-body localization in periodically driven systems," Physical review letters **114** (14), 140401.
- Potirniche, I-D, Andrew C Potter, Monika Schleier-Smith, Ashvin Vishwanath, and Norman Y Yao (2017), "Floquet symmetry-protected topological phases in cold-atom systems," Physical review letters **119** (12), 123601.
- Potter, Andrew C, Takahiro Morimoto, and Ashvin Vishwanath (2016), "Classification of interacting topological floquet phases in one dimension," Physical Review X **6** (4), 041001.
- Prakash, Gyan, Arvind Raman, Jeffrey Rhoads, and Ronald G Reifenberger (2012), "Parametric noise squeezing and parametric resonance of microcantilevers in air and liquid environments," Review of Scientific Instruments **83** (6), 065109.
- Preskill, John (2018), "Quantum computing in the nisq era and beyond," Quantum 2, 79.
- Prosen, T (1998), "Time Evolution of a Quantum Many-Body System: Transition from Integrability to Ergodicity in the Thermodynamic Limit," Physical Review Letters 80, 1808– 1811, cond-mat/9707180.
- Rahav, Saar, Ido Gilary, and Shmuel Fishman (2003), "Time independent description of rapidly oscillating potentials," Physical review letters 91 (11), 110404.
- Randall, J, CE Bradley, FV van der Gronden, A Galicia, MH Abobeih, M Markham, DJ Twitchen, F Machado, NY Yao, and TH Taminiau (2021), "Observation of a many-body-localized discrete time crystal with a programmable spin-based quantum simulator," arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.00736.
- Rayleigh, Lord (1883a), "Vii. on the crispations of fluid resting upon a vibrating support," The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 16 (97), 50–58.
- Rayleigh, Lord (1883b), "Xxxiii. on maintained vibrations," The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 15 (94), 229–235.
- Reichhardt, C, Ido Regev, K Dahmen, S Okuma, and CJO Reichhardt (2022), "Perspective on reversible to irreversible transitions in periodic driven many body systems and future directions for classical and quantum systems," arXiv preprint arXiv:2211.03775.
- Ringot, Jean, Pascal Szriftgiser, Jean-Claude Garreau, and Dominique Delande (2000), "Experimental evidence of dynamical localization and delocalization in a quasiperiodic driven system," Physical review letters **85** (13), 2741.
- Romeiras, Filipe J, and Edward Ott (1987), "Strange nonchaotic attractors of the damped pendulum with quasiperiodic forcing," Physical Review A **35** (10), 4404.
- Rovny, Jared, Robert L Blum, and Sean E Barrett (2018a), "Observation of discrete-time-crystal signatures in an ordered dipolar many-body system," Physical review letters 120 (18), 180603.
- Rovny, Jared, Robert L Blum, and Sean E Barrett (2018b),

"P 31 nmr study of discrete time-crystalline signatures in an ordered crystal of ammonium dihydrogen phosphate," Physical Review B **97** (18), 184301.

- Roy, Rahul, and Fenner Harper (2016), "Abelian floquet symmetry-protected topological phases in one dimension," Physical Review B 94 (12), 125105.
- Roy, Rahul, and Fenner Harper (2017), "Periodic table for floquet topological insulators," Physical Review B 96 (15), 155118.
- Rubio-Abadal, Antonio, Matteo Ippoliti, Simon Hollerith, David Wei, Jun Rui, SL Sondhi, Vedika Khemani, Christian Gross, and Immanuel Bloch (2020), "Floquet prethermalization in a bose-hubbard system," Physical Review X 10 (2), 021044.
- Rugar, D, and P Grütter (1991), "Mechanical parametric amplification and thermomechanical noise squeezing," Physical Review Letters 67 (6), 699.
- Russomanno, Angelo, Fernando Iemini, Marcello Dalmonte, and Rosario Fazio (2017), "Floquet time crystal in the lipkin-meshkov-glick model," Physical Review B 95 (21), 214307.
- Sacha, Krzysztof (2015), "Modeling spontaneous breaking of time-translation symmetry," Physical Review A 91 (3), 033617.
- Sacha, Krzysztof (2020), Time Crystals, Vol. 114 (Springer).
- Sacha, Krzysztof, and Jakub Zakrzewski (2017), "Time crystals: a review," Reports on Progress in Physics 81 (1), 016401.
- Sahay, Rahul, Francisco Machado, Bingtian Ye, Chris R Laumann, and Norman Y Yao (2021), "Emergent ergodicity at the transition between many-body localized phases," Physical Review Letters **126** (10), 100604.
- Sala, Pablo, Tibor Rakovszky, Ruben Verresen, Michael Knap, and Frank Pollmann (2020), "Ergodicity breaking arising from hilbert space fragmentation in dipoleconserving hamiltonians," Physical Review X 10 (1), 011047.
- Scherg, Sebastian, Thomas Kohlert, Pablo Sala, Frank Pollmann, Bharath Hebbe Madhusudhana, Immanuel Bloch, and Monika Aidelsburger (2021), "Observing nonergodicity due to kinetic constraints in tilted fermi-hubbard chains," Nature Communications **12** (1), 1–8.
- Schulz, Maximilian, CA Hooley, Roderich Moessner, and F Pollmann (2019), "Stark many-body localization," Physical review letters 122 (4), 040606.
- Seibold, Kilian, Riccardo Rota, and Vincenzo Savona (2020), "Dissipative time crystal in an asymmetric nonlinear photonic dimer," Physical Review A 101 (3), 033839.
- Sels, Dries, and Anatoli Polkovnikov (2021), "Dynamical obstruction to localization in a disordered spin chain," Physical Review E 104 (5), 054105.
- Serbyn, Maksym, Dmitry A Abanin, and Zlatko Papić (2021), "Quantum many-body scars and weak breaking of ergodicity," Nature Physics 17 (6), 675–685.
- Sethna, James P, and Eric D Siggia (1984), "Universal transition in a dynamical system forced at two incommensurate frequencies," Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena 11 (1-2), 193–211.
- Shapere, Alfred, and Frank Wilczek (2012a), "Branched quantization," Physical review letters 109 (20), 200402.
- Shapere, Alfred, and Frank Wilczek (2012b), "Classical time crystals," Physical review letters **109** (16), 160402.
- Shapere, Alfred D, and Frank Wilczek (2019), "Regularizations of time-crystal dynamics," Proceedings of the Na-

tional Academy of Sciences **116** (38), 18772–18776.

- Shapiro, Sidney (1963), "Josephson currents in superconducting tunneling: The effect of microwaves and other observations," Physical Review Letters 11 (2), 80.
- Shirley, Jon H (1965), "Solution of the schrödinger equation with a hamiltonian periodic in time," Physical Review 138 (4B), B979.
- Silber, Mary, Chad M Topaz, and Anne C Skeldon (2000), "Two-frequency forced faraday waves: weakly damped modes and pattern selection," Physica D: nonlinear phenomena 143 (1-4), 205–225.
- Sinai, Yaha G (1959), "On the notion of entropy of a dynamical system," in *Doklady of Russian Academy of Sciences*, Vol. 124, pp. 768–771.
- Smith, Jacob, Aaron Lee, Philip Richerme, Brian Neyenhuis, Paul W Hess, Philipp Hauke, Markus Heyl, David A Huse, and Christopher Monroe (2016), "Many-body localization in a quantum simulator with programmable random disorder," Nature Physics 12 (10), 907–911.
- Smits, J, HTC Stoof, and P van der Straten (2020), "On the long-term stability of space-time crystals," New Journal of Physics 22 (10), 105001.
- Smits, J, HTC Stoof, and P Van Der Straten (2021), "Spontaneous breaking of a discrete time-translation symmetry," Physical Review A **104** (2), 023318.
- Smits, Jasper, Lei Liao, HTC Stoof, and Peter van der Straten (2018), "Observation of a space-time crystal in a superfluid quantum gas," Physical review letters **121** (18), 185301.
- Sørensen, Anders, and Klaus Mølmer (1999), "Quantum computation with ions in thermal motion," Physical review letters **82** (9), 1971.
- Srednicki, Mark (1994), "Chaos and quantum thermalization," Phys. Rev. E 50 (2), 888–901, arXiv:condmat/9403051.
- Strogatz, Steven H (2018), Nonlinear dynamics and chaos with student solutions manual: With applications to physics, biology, chemistry, and engineering (CRC press).
- Šuntajs, Jan, Janez Bonča, Tomaž Prosen, and Lev Vidmar (2020), "Quantum chaos challenges many-body localization," Physical Review E 102 (6), 062144.
- Surace, Federica Maria, Angelo Russomanno, Marcello Dalmonte, Alessandro Silva, Rosario Fazio, and Fernando Iemini (2019), "Floquet time crystals in clock models," Physical Review B 99 (10), 104303.
- Taylor, James H, and Kumpati S Narendra (1969), "Stability regions for the damped mathieu equation," SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics **17** (2), 343–352.
- Thakurathi, M, A. A. Patel, D. Sen, and A. Dutta (2013), "Floquet generation of Majorana end modes and topological invariants," Phys. Rev. B 88 (15), 155133, arXiv:1303.2300 [cond-mat.mes-hall].
- Thiery, Thimothée, François Huveneers, Markus Müller, and Wojciech De Roeck (2018), "Many-body delocalization as a quantum avalanche," Physical review letters **121** (14), 140601.
- Thorne, RE, WG Lyons, Joseph W Lyding, JR Tucker, and John Bardeen (1987a), "Charge-density-wave transport in quasi-one-dimensional conductors. i. current oscillations," Physical Review B **35** (12), 6348.
- Thorne, RE, WG Lyons, JW Lyding, JR Tucker, and John Bardeen (1987b), "Charge-density-wave transport in quasione-dimensional conductors. ii. ac-dc interference phenomena," Physical Review B **35** (12), 6360.

- Toom, Andrei (1980), "Stable and attractive trajectories in multicomponent systems," in *Multicomponent Random* Systems, Vol. 6 (Marcel Dekker) pp. 549–575.
- Toom, Andrei (1995), "Cellular automata with errors: problems for students of probability," Topics in contemporary probability and its applications, 117–157.
- Toom, Andrei L (1974), "Nonergodic multidimensional system of automata," Problemy Peredachi Informatsii **10** (3), 70–79.
- Träger, Nick, Paweł Gruszecki, Filip Lisiecki, Felix Groß, Johannes Förster, Markus Weigand, Hubert Głowiński, Piotr Kuświk, Janusz Dubowik, Gisela Schütz, et al. (2021), "Real-space observation of magnon interaction with driven space-time crystals," Physical Review Letters **126** (5), 057201.
- Tucker, Kristopher, Bihui Zhu, Robert J Lewis-Swan, Jamir Marino, Felix Jimenez, Juan G Restrepo, and Ana Maria Rey (2018), "Shattered time: can a dissipative time crystal survive many-body correlations?" New Journal of Physics 20 (12), 123003.
- Turner, Christopher J, Alexios A Michailidis, Dmitry A Abanin, Maksym Serbyn, and Zlatko Papić (2018a), "Weak ergodicity breaking from quantum many-body scars," Nature Physics 14 (7), 745–749.
- Turner, CJ, AA Michailidis, DA Abanin, Maksym Serbyn, and Z Papić (2018b), "Quantum scarred eigenstates in a rydberg atom chain: Entanglement, breakdown of thermalization, and stability to perturbations," Physical Review B 98 (15), 155134.
- Urbina, C, JF Jacquinot, and M Goldman (1982), "Rotating transverse helical nuclear magnetic ordering," Physical Review Letters 48 (3), 206.

Vasmer, Mike (2020), "Toom's rule," .

- Von Neumann, John (1952), "Probabilistic logics and the synthesis of reliable organisms from unreliable components," in Automata Studies. (AM-34), Volume 34 (Princeton University Press) pp. 43–98.
- Von Plato, Jan (1991), "Boltzmann's ergodic hypothesis," Archive for History of Exact Sciences **42** (1), 71–89.
- Walters, Peter (2000), An introduction to ergodic theory, Vol. 79 (Springer Science & Business Media).
- Wang, Jia, Peter Hannaford, and Bryan J Dalton (2021a), "Many-body effects and quantum fluctuations for discrete time crystals in bose–einstein condensates," New Journal of Physics 23 (6), 063012.
- Wang, Jia, Krzysztof Sacha, Peter Hannaford, and Bryan J Dalton (2021b), "Discrete time crystals in bose-einstein condensates and the symmetry-breaking edge in a simple two-mode theory," Physical Review A 104 (5), 053327.
- Wang, Y H, H. Steinberg, P. Jarillo-Herrero, and N. Gedik (2013), "Observation of Floquet-Bloch States on the Surface of a Topological Insulator," Science **342**, 453–457, arXiv:1310.7563 [cond-mat.mes-hall].
- Wannier, Gregory H (1959), *Elements of solid state theory* (CUP Archive).
- Watanabe, Haruki, and Masaki Oshikawa (2015), "Absence of quantum time crystals," Physical review letters **114** (25), 251603.
- Waugh, JS, LM Huber, and U Haeberlen (1968), "Approach to high-resolution nmr in solids," Physical Review Letters 20 (5), 180.
- Weidinger, Simon A, and Michael Knap (2017), "Floquet

prethermalization and regimes of heating in a periodically driven, interacting quantum system," Scientific reports 7 (1), 1–10.

- Wilczek, Frank (2012), "Quantum time crystals," Physical review letters **109** (16), 160401.
- Wolpert, David H (2019), "The stochastic thermodynamics of computation," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical 52 (19), 193001.
- Xu, Huikai, Jingning Zhang, Jiaxiu Han, Zhiyuan Li, Guangming Xue, Weiyang Liu, Yirong Jin, and Haifeng Yu (2021), "Realizing discrete time crystal in an onedimensional superconducting qubit chain," arXiv preprint arXiv:2108.00942.
- Yang, Xiaoqin, and Zi Cai (2021), "Dynamical transitions and critical behavior between discrete time crystal phases," Physical Review Letters **126** (2), 020602.
- Yang, Zhi-Cheng, Fangli Liu, Alexey V Gorshkov, and Thomas Iadecola (2020), "Hilbert-space fragmentation from strict confinement," Physical review letters **124** (20), 207602.
- Yao, Norman Y, Chris R Laumann, Sarang Gopalakrishnan, Michael Knap, Markus Mueller, Eugene A Demler, and Mikhail D Lukin (2014), "Many-body localization in dipolar systems," Physical review letters **113** (24), 243002.
- Yao, Norman Y, and Chetan Nayak (2018), "Time crystals in periodically driven systems," Physics Today 71 (9), 40–47, https://doi.org/10.1063/PT.3.4020.
- Yao, Norman Y, Chetan Nayak, Leon Balents, and Michael P Zaletel (2020), "Classical discrete time crystals," Nature Physics 16 (4), 438–447.
- Yao, Norman Y, Andrew C Potter, I-D Potirniche, and Ashvin Vishwanath (2017), "Discrete time crystals: Rigidity, criticality, and realizations," Physical review letters 118 (3), 030401.
- Yao, Norman Y, Andrew C Potter, Ionut-Dragos Potirniche, and Ashvin Vishwanath (2021), "Reply to comment on" discrete time crystals: Rigidity criticality and realizations"," arXiv preprint arXiv:2109.07485.
- Ye, Bingtian, Francisco Machado, and Norman Y. Yao (2021), "Classical prethermal discrete time crystals," arXiv:2104.13927 [quant-ph].
- Zel'Dovich, Ya B (1973), "Scattering and emission of a quantum system in a strong electromagnetic wave," Soviet Physics Uspekhi 16 (3), 427.
- Zettl, A, and G Grüner (1983), "Observation of shapiro steps in the charge-density-wave state of nbse3," Solid state communications 46 (7), 501–504.
- Zhang, Jiehang, PW Hess, A Kyprianidis, P Becker, A Lee, J Smith, G Pagano, I-D Potirniche, Andrew C Potter, A Vishwanath, et al. (2017), "Observation of a discrete time crystal," Nature 543 (7644), 217–220.
- Zhang, Wenhua, and Kimberly L Turner (2004), "Noise analysis in parametric resonance based mass sensing," in ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, Vol. 47144, pp. 363–367.
- Zhao, Liu, Pengfei Yu, and Wei Xu (2013), "Hamiltonian description of singular lagrangian systems with spontaneously broken time translation symmetry," Modern Physics Letters A **28** (05), 1350002.
- Zhou, Hengyun, Joonhee Choi, Soonwon Choi, Renate Landig, Alexander M Douglas, Junichi Isoya, Fedor Jelezko, Shinobu Onoda, Hitoshi Sumiya, Paola Cappellaro, et al. (2020), "Quantum metrology with strongly interacting spin systems," Physical review X 10 (3), 031003.

- Zhu, Bihui, Jamir Marino, Norman Y Yao, Mikhail D Lukin, and Eugene A Demler (2019), "Dicke time crystals in driven-dissipative quantum many-body systems," New Journal of Physics **21** (7), 073028.
- Zhuang, Quntao, Francisco Machado, Norman Y Yao, and Michael P Zaletel (2021), "An absolutely stable open time crystal," arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.00585.
- Žlabys, Giedrius, Chu-hui Fan, Egidijus Anisimovas, and Krzysztof Sacha (2021), "Six-dimensional time-space crystalline structures," Physical Review B **103** (10), L100301.
- Zounes, Randolph S, and Richard H. Rand (2002), "Subharmonic resonance in the non-linear mathieu equation," International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics **37** (1), 43– 73.